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Highlights 

• Strong development in residential real estate market 

• 259 units under construction (140) at year end 

• 146 units sold (125) in 2016  

• 113 units completed and delivered (109/111) in 2016 

 (Numbers in parentheses are for the equivalent period last year) 

Units – Units refers to the number of apartments or houses 

  

 

 

 

(figures in NOK thousand unless otherwise stated) 2016 2015

Revenue 691 497 727 200

EBITDA 74 093 127 558                  

Profi t/(loss ) before tax 37 118 100 636

Equity ratio 28 % 12 %

Segment reporting

Operating revenues 787 167 804 847

EBITDA 129 609 117 010

EBITDA margin 16,47 % 14,54 %

Key figures

Number of uni ts  sold 146 125

Number of cons truction starts 232 66

Number of uni ts  del ivered 113 111

Number of uni ts  completed 113 109
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Corporate governance in Solon Eiendom ASA 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The governance processes of Solon Eiendom ASA 

(“Company”) are intended to contribute to a long term 

value creation and profitability.  

The corporate governance of Solon Eiendom ASA shall 

be of a high standard. The Company has implemented 

the “Norwegian recommendations for Corporate 

governance” applicable at any time. This document will 

provide a statement on how Solon Eiendom ASA 

complies with the items set out in the recommendation.  

1. Statement regarding corporate governance 

To establish a good corporate governance Solon 

Eiendom ASA has adopted governance principles and 

guidelines that will create trust, contribute to value 

creation and profitability over time. This includes ethical 

guidelines and other policy documents prepared in 

accordance with applicable laws, regulations and 

guidelines, together with the value base of the 

Company. It is established a clear distribution of 

responsibility between the owners, the board of 

directors and the executive management of the 

Company. It is the board of directors who holds the 

ultimate responsibility for the corporate governance of 

the Company. 

2. Activities 

The activities of Solon Eiendom ASA are defined and 

described in the Company’s articles of association. The 

articles of associations are available at 

www.soloneiendom.no. The objects clause of the 

Company reads: 

The company’s purpose is to invest in and 

develop property and/or rights within the 

biotechnology and pharmaceutical area, invest 

in other companies and participate in other 

related activities. 

The board of directors decides on the Company’s main 

strategy and objectives within the limits of the articles 

of association. Such decisions will be published in the 

Company’s annual report.   

3. Company capital and dividends 

“Over time, the dividend should reflect the earnings 

trend in operating activities. The aim is to manage the 

group’s resources in such a way that shareholders 

achieve a return in the form of dividend and share price 

appreciation which is competitive with comparable 

investments. The average dividend over a business cycle 

should correspond to 50 percent of consolidated profit 

after tax.” 

On December 14 2016 the shareholders granted a 

general authorisation to the board to issue new shares 

equalling 10% of the issued share capital. The 

authorisation is valid two years from issuance. The 

authorisation does not comply with the 

recommendation. In the view of the Company it is 

desirable to grant the board such authorisation to 

ensure sufficient flexibility.  

4. Equal treatment of shareholders and transactions 

with related parties 

Equal treatment of shareholders 

The Company has one share class, in which all shares 

have equal voting rights. The articles of association of 

Solon Eiendom ASA do not limit the voting rights of the 

shares. It should be emphasized that all shareholders 

are treated equally, are given the same information and 

have the same right to influence and preferential right 

of participation in any capital increases. 

Any exceptions from the principle of equal treatment or 

the preferential right of participation in any capital 

increases shall be based on sound reasons, published 

and only occur in special circumstances and be in the 

joint best interest of the Company and the shareholders 

as a group.  

Transactions with related parties 

Solon Eiendom ASA considers it important to 

demonstrate openness and caution in relation to 

investments, agreements and transactions that might 

be considered unfortunate between the Company, a 

shareholder, a member of the board of directors, a 

leading employee, or a related party to such parties. To 

ensure a good reputation and a sound handling of any 

such issues, the Company has established guidelines for 

interaction between the mentioned parties, which is 

described in the instructions to the board of directors, 

instructions to the management, instructions on risk 

management and internal control as well as in the 

ethical guidelines.  
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If the Company shall enter into a non-immaterial 

agreement or transaction with a related party, this can 

only be done on market terms based on valuations from 

an independent third party.  

5. Free negotiability 

Solon Eiendom ASA has no ownership or trading 

restrictions affecting the Company’s shares laid down in 

the articles of association.  

6. General meeting 

Solon Eiendom ASA shall facilitate that the shareholders 

of the Company can exercise their ownership rights by 

participating in the Company’s general meeting in such 

a way that the general meeting becomes an effective 

forum for both shareholders and the board of directors. 

The general meeting constitutes the Company’s highest 

authority. The chairman of the board of directors, the 

CEO, the Chairman of the nomination committee and 

the Company’s auditor shall attend the meeting. The 

Company shall facilitate in such a way that as many 

shareholders as possible can participate at the general 

meeting, and shall hereunder ensure that the notice and 

agenda documents, together with the Nomination 

Committee’s recommendations, are issued to the 

shareholders and made available at 

www.soloneiendom.no  with a minimum of 21 days’ 

notice. The agenda documents shall include all 

information necessary for the shareholders to decide on 

the issues to be dealt with at the meeting.  

The shareholders’ registration for the general meeting 

shall be made within the deadline given in the notice. 

The deadline shall be set as close to the date of the 

general meeting as possible. Shareholders who are 

unable to attend the general meeting in person are 

welcome to vote by proxy and proxies may be granted 

for each individual case that is discussed. The notice of 

the general meeting shall include proxy forms and 

information regarding participation by proxy. 

The general meeting shall be opened by the chairman of 

the board of directors, which shall facilitate the election 

of a chairperson for the meeting. The general meeting 

shall elect a chair person for the meeting. If 

disagreements on the election might occur, a proposal 

for an independent chairperson shall be prepared.  

The general meeting shall approve the Company’s 

annual accounts, report and the board of directors’ 

statement on determination of salary and other 

remuneration to the executive management. In 

addition, the general meeting shall elect the Nomination 

Committee and the chairman of the Nomination 

Committee. The general meeting shall further address 

all other items to be dealt with by the general meeting 

according to applicable law or the articles of association.  

The minutes from the general meeting shall be made 

available on the Company’s website as soon as possible 

and no later than 15 days after the general meeting is 

held.  

7. Nomination Committee 

The Nomination Committee is established in the 

Company’s articles of association. The general meeting 

has adopted instructions for the Nomination 

Committee’s activities and tasks.  

The committee shall consist of two to three members. 

The members of the committee shall be independent of 

the board of directors and the executive management 

of the Company. The composition of the committee 

shall reflect the interests of the shareholders. The 

committee and its chairperson shall be elected by the 

general meeting for a period of 2 years at a time. 

The Nomination Committee’s tasks are to provide 

recommendations to the general meeting for the 

election of board members and remuneration of said 

members. The committee’s recommendations shall 

provide justification for the recommendations and shall 

in addition include information the candidates and an 

evaluation of the candidates’ independence and 

suitability. The nomination should be anchored with the 

Company’s largest shareholder and fulfil any 

requirements imposed by applicable law and 

regulations.  

8. Corporate assembly and board of directors, 

composition and independence  

Solon Eiendom ASA has due to its size no corporate 

assembly. 

The Company has due to its number of employees and 

revenue no employee representative(s) on the board of 

directors. The board of directors shall according to the 

articles of associations consist of 3 to 8 members. The 

members of the board of directors are elected at the 

general meeting for a period of 2 years.  

The Company shall aim to have a diversified board with 

a competence and expertise adapted to Solon Eiendom 

ASA’s needs. Information on the members of the board 

of directors’ qualifications and experience will be 

available at the Company’s website.  
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To ensure the board of directors’ independence, the 

majority of the board of directors shall at any time be 

independent from the Company’s management, the 

Company’s competitors and main business associates. 

Further, at least 2 of the members of the board of 

directors selected by the shareholders should be 

independent of the Company’s main shareholders. 

Detailed regulations on the board of directors’ 

independence are set out in the Company’s instructions 

to the board of directors. An overview of the members 

of the board of directors’ shareholdings is published in 

the notes to the annual report of the Company.  

9. The work of the board of directors 

The board of directors has the overall responsibility for 

the management of Solon Eiendom ASA. This involves 

overseeing the management of the day-to-day 

operation and the business of the Company. The 

management shall be carried out in a proper manner 

with respect to shareholders, employees, creditors and 

other third parties. The board of directors shall ensure 

that the operations of the Company are organized in a 

proper manner, and ensure that the operations comply 

with applicable law and regulations, and is object to 

adequate control. The board of directors shall adopt 

business strategies in accordance with the vision and 

value base of Solon Eiendom ASA. Matters of 

significance or unusual nature shall be considered by the 

board of directors. The board of directors shall ensure 

that the decisions adopted by the general meeting are 

implemented. The board of directors is responsible for 

establishing routines for risk management and internal 

control, particularly on financial reporting and the 

relations to Oslo Børs. The board of directors appoints 

the chief executive officer (CEO) and adopts 

instructions, authorisations and conditions of 

employments for the chief executive officer. 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The board of directors has adopted instructions for the 

board of directors, which provide guidelines and 

regulations for the board of directors’ tasks and form of 

procedure. The board of directors shall annually 

evaluate the instructions and its performance as the 

board of directors of the Company. The result of the 

evaluations shall be made available to the Nomination 

Committee. The instructions for the board of directors 

shall regulate the areas of responsibility, tasks and the 

division of roles between the board of directors and the 

CEO. The chairman is responsible to ensure that the 

work of the board of directors is carried out in a proper 

and efficient manner. 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

The board of directors has adopted instructions for the 

chief executive officer regarding the chief executive 

officer’s authority, responsibilities, authorisations and 

the division of roles between the board of directors and 

the chief executive officer. The chief executive officer is 

the is responsible for the day-to-day operation of the 

business of the Company. The chief executive officer is 

responsible for ensuring that the Company’s financial 

statements are in accordance with applicable law and 

regulation and that the Company’s operations and 

assets are managed in accordance with the Company’s 

values in a proper manner. The chief executive officer 

shall keep the board of directors continuously informed 

of the Company’s financial status, operations and the 

management of the Company’s assets. The chief 

executive officer is obliged to bring matters of 

significance or unusual nature to the board of directors 

for their assessment. 

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Solon Eiendom ASA has appointed an Audit Committee, 

as preparatory and advisory bodies to the board of 

directors. The board of directors has adopted 

instructions, which define the committee’s tasks and 

form of procedure. 

The Audit Committee is appointed by the board of 

directors and shall consist of 2-3 members from the 

board of directors. At least one of the members should 

have experience in finance, accounting or auditing. The 

committee shall oversee and recommend the 

appointment of the Company’s independent auditor, 

and shall ensure such auditor’s independence. Further, 

the committee shall monitor the Company’s risk 

management and internal control of financial reporting, 

and prepare the board of directors’ quality assurance of 

its financial reporting. 

10. Risk management and internal control 

Solon Eiendom ASA has established instructions for risk 

management and internal control with underlying 

policies and procedures for certain risk areas. The 

instructions are based on the Company’s strategy, 

values and ethical guidelines to ensure the 

shareholders’ investments through effective risk 

management and internal controls. The Company’s 

instructions to the board of directors and the executive 

management, and the matrix of authorisation of the 

Company together ensure clear guidelines for the 

individual’s authorisations and power of attorneys. The 

Company’s internal guidelines and procedures for risk 
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management and internal control are intended to 

ensure the quality of the Company’s internal and 

external reporting, as well as efficient operations. The 

board of directors shall as a minimum receive monthly 

reports on the Company’s operations and financial 

situation, quarterly receive evaluations on risks and 

reporting, and annually receive a review of the 

Company’s main risk areas and the status of the internal 

control. 

11. Remuneration of the board of directors 

The remuneration of the board of directions in Solon 

Eiendom ASA shall not be dependent upon results. The 

general meeting determines the board of directors’ 

remuneration based on recommendations from the 

Nomination Committee. The members of the board of 

directors shall not participate in any option or incentive 

program established by the Company.  

12. Remuneration to employees in senior positions 

The guidelines for remuneration of employees in senior 

positions are described in notes to the annual report of 

the Company and shall be submitted for the general 

meeting. Remuneration of the chief executive officer 

and senior employees shall be competitive. Bonus and 

option programs of the Company shall provide 

incentives over time and be concurrent with the 

interests of the shareholders. 

13. Information and communication 

Information from Solon Eiendom ASA shall be published 

in the form of annual and quarterly reports, investor 

presentations, press releases, stock exchange 

announcements in accordance with Oslo Børs’ 

messaging system. The Company has established a 

separate IR Policy which is available on the Company’s 

web-site: www.soloneiendom.no.  

14. Take-overs 

As set out in section 5, Solon Eiendom ASA has no 

ownership or trading restrictions affecting the 

Company’s shares. In the event of a take-over, the board 

of directors shall ensure the equal treatment of the 

shareholders and that there are no unnecessary 

interruptions to the Company’s operations. The board 

of directions shall seek to provide all shareholders 

sufficient time and information to consider a take-over 

bid. If a take-over bid is received, the board of directors 

shall give a reasoned statement containing an 

evaluation of the bid and a recommendation to the 

shareholders whether the bid should be accepted or 

not. The board of directors should seek third party 

evaluation in relation to their recommendation. The 

board of directors must be cautious to enter into 

agreements with any bidders about exclusive 

negotiations that deprive others the opportunity to 

submit competing bids. Bids that involve the purchase 

of all or substantial parts of the Company’s business 

should be submitted to the general meeting. Detailed 

regulation on the board of directors’ response in the 

event of a take-over is set out in the instructions for the 

board of directors. 

15. Auditor 

The Audit Committee shall provide its recommendation 

on the election of an auditor to the general meeting. The 

auditor is appointed by the general meeting.  

The auditor shall in a timely manner present its plan for 

the audit work for the Company for the Audit 

Committee. The auditor shall participate at the 

meetings in the Audit Committee unless otherwise 

determined. The auditor shall further participate in the 

meeting of the board of directors that approves the 

annual financial statements of the Company. The 

auditor shall in this meeting present its audit work and 

give a valuation on the Company’s economic reporting 

and internal control.  The board of directors shall give 

account for the auditor’s remuneration to the general 

meeting. The auditor should attend the general meeting 

and answer questions related to its work and 

remuneration. The auditor shall as a minimum have one 

meeting per year with the board of directors without the 

presence of the chief executive officer, to review any 

matters on which there has been disagreements 

between the auditor and the executive management.  

To ensure the auditors’ independence, Solon Eiendom 

ASA has adopted guidelines for the executive 

management’s use of the Company’s auditor to other 

tasks than auditing.  
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Corporate social responsibility (CSR) 

1. ETHICAL GUIDELINES 

High ethical standard 

Solon Eiendom ASA considers it important to 

demonstrate a high ethical standard and to deliver with 

quality at every stage. This shall be reflected in our 

values, behaviour and attitude. In this context, we want 

everyone to feel secure by having relations with Solon 

Eiendom ASA, either as a customer, employee or as an 

external third party.  For these reasons, we have ethical 

guidelines that will set a standard for good and 

responsible behaviour. The ethical guidelines of Solon 

Eiendom ASA apply to all of our employees and will 

together with our values and social responsibility create 

a healthy business culture. With our high ethical 

standard and internal culture, we will build trust and a 

good reputation that shows our customers and 

surroundings that we can be trusted in. Our ethical 

guidelines shall form a standard for what is considered 

a good responsible behaviour in Solon Eiendom ASA. 

The guidelines shall not be considered exhaustive, but 

shall provide guidance in whatever dilemma we may be 

exposed to. The fact that certain types of actions and 

behaviour are allowed outside of Norway does not 

provide for an exception from the ethical guidelines.  

Our ethical guidelines are applicable for the members of 

the Board of Directors, managers, employees and any 

other person acting on behalf of Solon Eiendom ASA. It 

is the managers’ responsibility to ensure that everyone 

is familiar with, understand and comply with these 

guidelines. The managers shall ensure that it is acted on 

deviant behaviour and shall itself set an example on 

good ethical behaviour. The employees are obliged to 

reed and familiarise themselves with the guidelines and 

be prepared to meet the consequences of any breach of 

the guidelines.  

2. Solon Eiendom ASA’s general guidelines for all 

employees 

Basic human value 

Solon Eiendom ASA respects the fundamental human 

rights. There shall be no tolerance for any form 

harassment or discrimination due to race, religion, 

nationality, sexual orientation, gender or other. There 

shall further be no tolerance for behaviour that can be 

understood as abusive, threatening or degrading. Solon 

Eiendom ASA and our collaborators shall not make use 

of child labour.  

Verifiability and honesty 

Solon Eiendom ASA shall be verifiable in relation to all 

our operations, and shall secure that all applicable laws 

and regulations are complied with. We shall comply with 

our agreements and promises, both written and oral. 

Employees shall behave and deal fairly and honestly 

towards the surroundings and each other. Our 

employees are obliged to comply with applicable law, 

regulations and internal guidelines, show responsibility 

and perform their work conscientiously and secure. We 

shall treat everyone with respect and demonstrate good 

behaviour towards business associates, colleagues and 

others. We shall not seek to obtain advantages that 

could be considered inappropriate, that occurs at the 

expense of others or that in any other way may harm 

the Company’s ethical or social reputation.  

Work environment and HSE 

Solon Eiendom ASA shall be a professional and positive 

employer that shall create a good and inclusive work 

environment. Employees shall show mutual respect for 

each other, the Company and the workplace. We shall 

through cooperation, trust and respect, help each other 

to success. The organisation shall aim to achieve an 

open culture in which difficult issues and conflicts are 

dealt within a respectful manner. The work 

environment shall provide individual growth and 

personal development. It is everyone’s responsibility to 

stimulate for development of expertise, be responsible 

in their work and share of their knowledge with others.  

We desire a high degree of satisfaction among our 

employees and will facilitate the safeguarding of the 

employees’ health, safety and working environment.   

 

The external environment 

Solon Eiendom ASA is as a responsible corporate citizen 

concerned with the environment. We shall in relation to 

our organisation consider any potential environmental 

effects of our work-related actions, and where there are 

several options, the most environmentally sound shall 

be selected.  

Corruption 

Solon Eiendom ASA has as a responsible corporate 

citizen, zero tolerance for corruption. Any form of illegal 

bribes, tips or other actions with the intention to 
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achieve business and/or personal benefits for the 

Company, its employees or others shall not be offered 

or accepted.  

Caution shall be exercised in relation to the giving and 

receiving of gifts that deviates from normal business 

practice and moderate forms of hospitality or social 

interaction. Gifts, services or benefits that are suited to 

influence someone’s actions in relation to the work for 

the Company are not accepted, in Norway or abroad. 

Acts that may have influence in decision-making 

processes or that may give third parties a reason to 

believe that such influence has occurred are not 

accepted.  

Solon Eiendom ASA’s properties and assets 

Solon Eiendom ASA’s properties and assets shall be 

treated in an adequate, secure and caring manner, 

which preserves our values and prevent damage. The 

authorization controls and safety regulations that apply 

to the Group’s assets, premises, IT equipment and 

electronic information shall be respected and complied 

with.  

Conflicts of interest between employees and the 

Company 

The employees’ private and personal interests shall be 

respected by Solon Eiendom ASA. It is expected that the 

employees demonstrate openness and loyalty towards 

the Company and the Group’s interests. Employees shall 

not seek to obtain advantages that may harm the 

Group’s economic interests or reputation. It is not 

allowed to hold any paid job, ownership interests or any 

other position that enables influence in businesses in a 

way that might undermine the employee’s loyalty to the 

Group. Further, it is not allowed to take part in or seek 

influence on a decision, when circumstances that can 

undermine the trust in the employee’s objectivity and 

independence are present. If an employee become 

aware of a potential conflict of interest, the employee 

shall initiate evaluation of the situation and immediate 

notify the CEO.  

Internal authorisation and expertise 

Any decision shall be made at the appropriate level, by 

the authorized person and in accordance with the 

Company’s prevailing internal regulations on 

representation and authorisation from time to time. All 

employees shall be aware of their authorisations and 

any restrictions on such authorisations. An employee 

may only commit the Company pursuant to its general 

or special authorisation. All employees shall know their 

own competence and qualifications. No employee shall 

exceed its expertise or competence in a way that might 

have a negative impact on the experienced or provided 

quality of Solon Eiendom ASA’s deliveries. 

Confidentiality  

All employees of Solon Eiendom ASA are obligated to 

maintain confidentiality regarding matters imposed by 

law or their contract of employment. The obligation to 

maintain confidentiality shall prevent unauthorised 

access to information that may harm the customers of 

the Group, the employees, the Groups business or 

reputation. Further, the obligation shall ensure and 

safeguard the individual’s protection of privacy and 

integrity. The obligation to maintain confidentiality 

applies to all business information and other 

information that might provide any third-party access to 

confidential information. It shall be exercised discretion 

in relation to the internal processing of information and 

other employees that do not need to know of the 

information in relation to their work for the Company. 

The obligation to maintain confidentiality also applies 

after the period of employment or consultancy work is 

completed. All employees are obliged to familiarise 

themselves with and act in accordance with the 

guidelines and procedures stated in the Company’s 

insider regulations.  

Contact with the media and external communications 

Solon Eiendom ASA considers it important to be a 

professional and trustworthy company. This should be 

reflected in all our communication, information to and 

contact with the media and public. Contact with the 

media and third parties shall be handled by the CEO or 

the Chairman of the board, unless other employees are 

specifically given the task of handling such 

communication. The Company has established a 

separate IR Policy which is available on the Company’s 

web-site; www.soloneiendom.no.  

Interaction with customers, suppliers, competitors and 

public authorities  

Solon Eiendom ASA shall be trustworthy and show its 

surroundings that all the Company’s interactions are 

carried out with mutual respect.  The ethical guidelines 

also apply to our interaction with customers, suppliers, 

competitors and public authorities.  

Our customers shall always be met with understanding 

and respect. We shall always seek to give our customers 

service in accordance with good business practice and 

our internal guidelines. Our goal is to create a 

competitive business where our suppliers and 

competitors are handled with honesty and 

professionalism. As a responsible corporate citizen, we 
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shall meet the public authorities in a responsible, 

professional and open way. 

Solon Eiendom ASA shall promote competition and 

counteract the formation of monopolies and cartels 

which over time will hinder efficiency in businesses.  

Violation of the ethical guidelines 

Anyone who becomes aware of breaches of legislation 

and regulations or violations of Solon Eiendom ASA’s 

ethical guidelines are requested to report this to the 

CEO. If this isn’t possible or do not feel right, the 

situation shall be reported to the chairman of the Board 

of Directors. Neglect of the obligation to report any such 

breach or violation may itself be a violation of the ethical 

guidelines.  

The CEO shall notify the Board of Directors of all 

identified and reported incidents related to illegal or 

unethical conduct carried out on behalf of the Company.  

Violations of the ethical guidelines may result in a 

warning, discharge of employment, or in the event of a 

substantial or recurring violation; notice of dismissal.  

3 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

Solon Eiendom ASA considers the social responsibility 

and the opportunity to combine creation of value and 

social benefits as important. We want the result of our 

work to be available to our customers and others, so 

that we can create competition and administer our 

human, financial and natural resources in the most 

efficient manner.  We wish to take care of the 

environment, contribute to reduction of emissions and 

pollution, and contribute to an optimal exploitation of 

resources with minimal impact to the nature.  
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Directors’ report 
Highlights  

2016 has been characterized by a high level of activity for 

Solon Eiendom, with strong sales and financial progress. A 

total of 146 units with a combined sales value of NOK 976 

million were sold during the year. 113 units were 

completed and delivered to customers. Solon Eiendom’s 

had construction starts on 232 units during the year, and 

259 were under construction at December 31. Eighty-

seven per cent of these had been sold at year end. 

 

The group’s business  

Solon Eiendom is one of Oslo’s leading residential real 

estate developers. It acquires and develops new 

properties, and manages the whole value chain from 

acquisition of land to completion and sale of units. The 

group concentrates on the areas in and around Greater 

Oslo.  

 

Workers rights and social conditions  

Solon Eiendom is an inclusive work place where the rights 

of all employees are protected in accordance with local 

legislation. The working environment is regarded as good 

and during 2016 sick leave has been at a low level of 

approximately 1,5% . There has been no work related 

accidents during the year. The Groups general policy is 

equal treatment with regards to gender. During 2016 

there has been an imbalance in the number of men and 

women employees. The Board has, based on the size of 

the Group, number of employees and job categories, not 

found It necessary to initiate actions to address the 

gender balance. 

Financial review 

Income statement (comparable amounts for 2015 are 

presented in brackets)  

Operating revenue 

Consolidated operating revenue for 2016 totaled NOK 

691 497 thousand (NOK 727 200 thousand). The decrease 

from 2015 is mainly due to the realization of shares in 

Holmen Eiendomsutvikling AS in 2015. During 2016, 113 

(111) units were delivered.  

Operating costs 

Operating costs totaled NOK 605 570 thousand (NOK 

598 206 thousand), with project costs accounting for NOK 

558 670 thousand (NOK 553 586 thousand). Project costs 

consist mainly of construction costs for units delivered in 

the period. Payroll costs accounted for NOK 12 738 

thousand (NOK 19 284 thousand).  

Operating profit  

The group generated an operating profit of NOK 73 464 

thousand (NOK 127 128 thousand).  

Financial items 

Net financial expenses amounted to NOK 36 346 thousand 

(NOK 26 492 thousand).  

Pre-tax profit 

Profit before tax was NOK 37 118 thousand (NOK 100 636 

thousand). Income tax expense was NOK 9 935 thousand 

(NOK 11 291 thousand). Consolidated tax expense does 

not include tax liability for entities which are not part of 

the Solon Eiendom tax group.  

Cash flow 

For 2016 cash flow from operating activities was NOK 48 

830 thousand compared to cash flow used in operating 

activities of NOK 249 577 thousand in the same period last 

year, mainly caused by change in inventory due to project 

completions and change in other receivables. 

 

Financing and debt 

The Group had land loans totaling NOK 446 547 thousand 

at December 31, 2016 compared to NOK 399 862 at 

December 31, 2015.  These are normally converted to 

construction loans in connection with the start of 

construction. The Group had construction loans totaling 

NOK 382 378 thousand at December 31, 2016 compared 

to NOK 379 017 at December 31, 2015.   

 

The average interest rate on the related interest bearing 

debt is 3,41%.  At 31 December 2016 the Net Interest 

Bearing Debt (NIBD) was NOK 795 377 thousand.  

 

In December 2016, Solon raised gross proceeds of NOK 

150 000 thousand in a share issue. 

Going concern 

 

Pursuant to section 3-3a of the Norwegian Accounting 

Act, the board confirms that the going concern 

assumption is appropriate and that the financial 

statements for 2016 have been prepared on that basis. 

This view is based in part on the group’s capital adequacy 

and financial position. 

 

Events after the balance sheet date 

On January 30, 2017, the company completed the 

subsequent offering of 666 666 666 new shares at a 

subscription price of NOK 0.15 per share. 

On March 21, 2017, the company held an extraordinary 

general meeting.  The extraordinary general meeting 

approved a share capital increase and a reverse split of 

the company’s shares in the ratio of 200:1.  Further a 

share capital decrease of NOK 923 306 064 from NOK 

971 901 120 to NOK 48 595 056 was approved. 
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Parent company Solon Eiendom ASA 

Operating revenues for Solon Eiendom ASA, the parent 

company, amounted to NOK 28,4 million (NOK 46,8 

million), and the operating loss was NOK 376,8 million 

(NOK 50,5 million). Ordinary net loss for the year was NOK 

371,2 million (NOK 44,6 million). 

Allocation of the net results 

The parent company, Solon Eiendom ASA, generated a net 

loss of NOK 371,2 million for 2016 (NOK 44,6 million). The 

parent company’s equity amounted to NOK 1 341 million 

(NOK 424 million) at December 31. The board proposes 

the following allocation for 2016; NOK 371,2 million 

transferred to retained earnings.  

Dividend 

The Board has proposed a dividend of NOK 50,0 million. 

The proposed dividend is subject to approval by 

shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

Risk and risk management 

As a residential real estate developer, the group is 

exposed to various risk factors related to land 

development, sales and the execution of construction 

projects. These factors can affect the group’s business 

activities and financial position. The board of Solon 

Eiendom accordingly place a high priority to dealing with 

and managing risk, and has established routines and 

control systems to limit overall risk exposure to an 

acceptable level. The primary risk factors can be 

categorized as market, operational and financial risk.  

Market risk 

Housing demand is influenced by a large number of 

factors at both micro and macro level. It may be affected 

by substantial fluctuations in the general level of interest 

rates and/or significant changes in other financial 

variables to which potential house buyers might be 

exposed. Changes in housing demand could furthermore 

affect Solon Eiendom’s opportunities to sell units at 

budgeted prices within planned time frames. If the pace 

of sales is lower than expected because of changes in 

market conditions, planned developments could be 

postponed. The company accordingly has internal 

requirements related to advance sales, where the general 

rule is that construction does not begin until units 

corresponding to 60 per cent of the value of each building 

stage in the respective projects have been sold. 

Operational risk 

Solon Eiendom engages external construction companies 

and service providers in connection with developing and 

building new projects. As a result, it is exposed to the risk 

of loss and additional project cost if a contractor/supplier 

experiences financial difficulties. To reduce this risk, the 

company mainly enters into construction contracts with 

large, well established players which have a solid financial 

position and experience, and can document quality work. 

Furthermore, Solon Eiendom is exposed to increases in 

the level of prices for construction contracts and to cost 

overruns. As such, the company mainly enters into 

turnkey contracts. Costs are thereby fixed before sales 

and construction begins. That makes it easier to maintain 

a good control of the construction costs. 

Planning risk  

Planning changes by the relevant public authorities could 

affect both the progress and viability of Solon Eiendom’s 

various projects, and might thereby limit opportunities to 

continue developing its properties. That could lead to 

delays and increased costs.  

Financial risk 

Credit risk  

The group’s credit risk relates largely to the settlement of 

its accounts receivable, which primarily involve private 

customers as house buyers. Buyers are required to pay a 

10 per cent deposit in advance when a sale is agreed, and 

document satisfactory financing for the property.  

Foreign exchange risk  

Virtually all the group’s activities are based in Norway.  

Interest rate risk (own financing, deposits) 

Interest rate risk relates primarily to the group’s liquidity. 

Significant changes in interest rates will also impact the 

group’s borrowing costs, and could affect the valuation of 

its assets. The company has opted not to enter into any 

form of hedging contract, since land loans are converted 

to construction loans as building proceeds. 

Financing risk (access to capital) 

Solon Eiendom depends on access to capital in order to 

acquire sites and realize projects. Where external capital 

is concerned, the company has established relations with 

its principal banks, which are well-capitalized Nordic 

institutions. Competition between the banks is perceived 

to be satisfactory, and the company has thereby been 

able to secure the necessary financing required for its 

projects.  

Liquidity risk 

Conservative liquidity management means having 

sufficient liquid assets and available financing through 

lines of credit to meet the group’s obligations. Solon 

Eiendom administers liquidity actively, and pays special 

attention to maintaining adequate liquidity at all times. 

The company continuously monitors forecast and actual 

cash flows.  

Organization  

Solon Eiendom AS was established in 2006 by founder 

Simen Thorsen and investor Tore Aksel Voldberg. The 

company was listed in 2016 through a reverse takeover. 
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At December 31, 2016, the Solon Eiendom group had a 

total of 19 employees 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 

Solon Eiendom ASA considers it important to demonstrate 

a high ethical standard and to deliver with quality at every 

stage. This shall be reflected in our values, behaviour and 

attitude. Environmental considerations are integrated in 

the day-to-day operations. Furthermore, Solon Eiendom 

will be a responsible social player and minimise 

emissions/discharges and damage to the natural 

environment. 

See Corporate social responsibility section above. 

Shareholder information  

See note 15 to the consolidated financial statements for 

Solon Eiendom ASA for detailed shareholder information. 

Transactions with related parties 

See note 22 to the consolidated financial statements for 

further information on transactions with related parties. 

Corporate governance 

Solon Eiendom ASA is committed to maintaining a high 

standard of corporate governance. A healthy corporate 

culture is essential for safeguarding confidence in the 

company, securing access to capital and ensuing value 

creation over time. All shareholders will be treated 

equally, and a clear division of responsibility exists 

between the board and the company’s executive 

management. See Corporate governance section above. 

Pay and other remuneration of senior executives 

Pay and other remuneration for senior executives in the 

group are disclosed in note 6.  

Annual general meeting (AGM) 

The AGM for 2016 will take place on May 23, 2017. 

Outlook 

The housing market remained strong and the Company 

does not see any signs that sales are slowing down.  Sales 

in 2017 have started positively.   

 

There has been a significant amount of discussion 

regarding the new real estate regulations which restrict 

second home buyers through a minimum 40% equity 

requirement and maximum gearing not to exceed five 

times household income.  The Company believes that the 

latter restriction will potentially have the largest impact.  

However, the Company’s target customers are primarily 

well established with a high proportion of equity in 

existing homes that can be used when acquiring a new 

homes.  These buyers will also be less likely to be 

impacted by the five times household income restriction 

as borrowing requirement is lower than for first time 

home buyers. 

 

The deal flow of properties has increased throughout 

2016 and the Company continues to see attractive 

opportunities to acquire new properties.  Solon has 

invested strategically and will continue to maintain strict 

capital discipline going forward. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

  

For the financial period ended 31 December

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes 2016 2015

Revenue 3,4 691 497 699 978

Gain from sale of subsidiary -                27 222

Total income 691 497 727 200

Cost of goods sold 3 558 670 553 586

Employee benefit expense 6 12 738 19 284

Depreciation and amortisation expense 11 629 430

Other operating expense 7 30 378 24 905

Other (gains) & losses 3 156 -                

Total operating expenses 605 570 598 206

Unrealized loss investment property 12,27 12 463 1 866

Operating profit 73 464 127 128

Financial income 1 730 4 198

Financial expense (38 076) (30 690)

Net financial items 8 (36 346) (26 492)

Profit/(loss) before tax 37 118 100 636

Income tax expense 9 (9 935) (11 291)

Profit/(loss) for the period 27 183 89 345

Other comprehensive income -                -                

Total comprehensive income for the period 27 183     89 345     

Profit for the period is attributable to:

- Owners of the parent 22 327 75 189

- Non-controll ing interests 4 856 14 156

Earnings (loss) per share (NOK) basic: 16 0,004       0,011       

Earnings (loss) per share (NOK) diluted: 16 0,004       0,011       
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

At 31 December

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes 2016 2015

Non -current assets

Intangible assets 10 120 263 -                       

Deferred tax assets 55 -                       

Investment properties 12 200 000 197 955

Property, plant and equipment 11 3 844 2 341

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures 2 006 2 657

Other non-current receivables 21 259 4 304

Total non-current assets 347 426 207 257

Current assets

Inventories 5 1 168 425 1 077 341

Trade and other receivables 78 874 100 602

Cash and cash equivalents 14 238 642 122 128

Total current assets 1 485 941 1 300 072

Total assets 1 833 367 1 507 329

Equity and liabilities

Share capital 905 234 62 082

Other Equity (408 186) 115 530

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 497 047 177 612

Non-controll ing interests 14 031 9 175

Total equity 511 079 186 787

Deferred tax 9 36 106 50 655

Interest bearing l iabil ities to financial institutions 18 637 475 763 225

Other long term interest bearing debt 18 28 250 70 561

Total non-current liabilities 701 831 884 441

Interest bearing l iabil ities to financial institutions 18 368 294 248 928

Trade payables 83 998 63 685

Tax payable 9 28 238 130

Public duties payable 9 837 2 044

Derivatives 2 012 3 060

Prepayments from customers 19 110 246 62 440

Other  short-term liabil ities 19 17 834 55 814

Total current liabilities 620 458 436 100

Total liabilities 1 322 289 1 320 541

Total equity and liabilities 1 833 367 1 507 329
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Share 

capital

Share 

premium
Other equity

Retained 

earnings
Total

Non-

controll ing 

interests

Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2016 62 082 265 183 4 408 (154 061) 177 612 9 175 186 787

Profit or the period -                     -                        -                     22 327 22 327 4 856 27 183

Othe comprehensive income -                     -                        -                     -                     -                     -                       -                     

Total Comprehensive income for the period 22 327 22 327 4 856 27 183

Dividend -                     -                        -                     (50 000) (50 000) -                       -50 000

Business combination reverse acquisition 25 666 667 333 333 1 896 (791 896) 210 000 -                       210 000

Private placements 176 485 110 085 -                     (136 571) 150 000 -                       150 000

Sharebased payment -                     -                        -                     -                     -                     -                       0

Transaction costs issue of share capital -                     (12 891) -                     -                     (12 891) -                       -12 891

Reclassification due to reverse acquisition -                     (695 711) -                     695 711 -                     -                       0

Equity transaticions for the period 843 152 (265 183) 1 896 (282 756) 297 109 -                       297 109

Balance at 31 December 2016 905 234 -                        6 304 (414 490) 497 047 14 031 511 079

Share 

capital

Share 

premium
Other equity

Retained 

earnings
Total

Non-

controll ing 

interests

Total equity

Balance at 1 January 2015 62 082 265 183 4 408 (209 250) 122 423 5 047              127 470

Profit for the period -                     -                        -                     75 189 75 189 14 156 89 345

Othe comprehensive income -                     -                        -                     -                     -                     -                       -                     

Total Comprehensive income for the period 75 189 75 189 14 156 89 345

Dividend -                     -                        -                     (20 000) (20 000) (16 800) (36 800)

Increase in non-controlling interests in period -                     -                        -                     -                     -                     6 772 6 772

Equity transaticions for the period -                     -                        -                     (20 000) (20 000) (10 028) (30 028)

Balance at 31 December 2015 62 082 265 183 4 408 (154 061) 177 612 9 175 186 787

Attributable to owners of Solon Eiendom ASA:

Attributable to owners of Solon Eiendom ASA:
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 

For the financial period from 1 January to 31 December

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes 2016 2015

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax 37 118 100 636

Paid taxes (130) (570)

Depreciation and amortisation 629 430

Profit (-)/loss (+) sale of shares 1 656 -7 855             

Unrealized gain (-)/loss (+) on derivatives 1 049 3 060

Unrealized gain (-)/loss (+) on investment property 12 463 1 866

Change in inventory (91 084) (298 881)

Change in receivable 84 671 (123 938)

Change in trade payables 26 665 35 136

Change in other accruals (24 207) 40 537

Net cash flow from operations 48 830 (249 577)

Cash flow from investments

Purchase of fixed assets (15 113) (9 173)

Proceeds from sale of shares 12 545 12 853            

Purchase of business (net) 60 157 -                        

Purchases of shares (16 262) -4 998             

Repayment loans to third parties 152                  6 294               

Loans to third parties (12 207) (13 251)

Net cash flow from investments 29 271 (8 276)

Cash flow from financing

Repayments borrowings (564 381) (289 585)

Proceeds borrowings 515 686 662 058

Capital increase 150 000 -                        

Transaction cost capital increase (12 892) -                        

Dividends to minority interests -                        (16 800)

Dividends to owners (50 000) (20 000)

Net cash flow from financing 38 413 335 673

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 116 514 77 820

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 14 122 128 44 309

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of  period 238 642 122 128
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

Note 1 General information and basis for preparation 

General information 

Solon Eiendom ASA (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) is a residential property development 

group. Solon Eiendom ASA is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in Norway and listed on the Oslo 

Stock Exchange. The address of its registered office is Olav V's gate 5, 0161 Oslo. 

 

On December 15, 2016, Bionor Pharma ASA acquired through a reverse acquisition 100% of the outstanding shares in 

Solon Eiendom AS (Solon Acquisition) and subsequently changed name to Solon Eiendom ASA. See footnote 25 to these 

financial statements for further information related to the accounting treatment of the Solon Acquisition. The 

consolidated financial statements of Solon Eiendom ASA is a continuation of the financial statements of the legal 

subsidiary/accounting acquirer. 

 

The principal activities of the Group are to develop market and sell residential real estate. The group focuses on 

developing residential real estate projects in the greater Oslo region.  

   

In addition to its residential real estate development business, the Group’s biopharmaceutical business owns 

intellectual property rights to its proprietary therapeutic vaccine, Vacc-4x. Prior to the Solon Acquisition, the Group's 

business was focused on HIV immunotherapy with the overall strategy to develop a functional cure for HIV infection.  

 

Basis for preparation 

Solon Eiendom ASA’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and interpretations from International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the EU. 

 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Company’s Board on April 24, 2017. 

  

Functional and presentation currency  

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (NOK), which is also the functional currency 

of the parent company and of all significant consolidated entities. 

 

Consolidation principles  

The statement of financial position for the Group as of December 31, 2016 consists of Solon Eiendom ASA and its 

subsidiaries. A subsidiary is consolidated as of the date at which control is acquired. Control is achieved when the Group 

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the investee. Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in 

control. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with uniform accounting principles 

for similar transactions for the companies included in the consolidated accounts, and are prepared based on the same 

accounting period as used for the parent company. All intercompany balances and transactions between consolidated 

companies are eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

 

A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. The 

consideration is recognized at fair value and the difference between the consideration and the carrying amount of the 

non-controlling interests is recognized at the equity attributable to the parent. 

 

Assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary and non-controlling interest at their carrying amounts are 

derecognized at the date when the control is lost. The fair value of the consideration received is recognized and any 

investment retained is recognized at fair value. Gain or loss is recognized in the income statement at the date when the 

control is lost. 

 

Joint ventures are companies or entities where Solon Eiendom has joint control with one or several other investors. In a 

joint venture company, decisions related to relevant activities must be unanimous between participants which have 
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joint control. Solon Eiendom classifies its investments based on an analysis of the degree of control and the underlying 

facts. This includes an assessment of voting rights, ownership structure and the relative strength, purchase and sale 

rights controlled by Solon Eiendom and other shareholders. Each individual investment is assessed. Upon changes in 

underlying facts and circumstances, a new assessment must be made as to whether this is still a joint venture. The 

Group’s share of the companies’ profit/loss after tax, adjusted for amortisation of excess value and any deviations from 

accounting policies, are presented on a separate line in the consolidated income statement. Joint ventures are 

recognised in the consolidated accounts using the equity method and presented as non-current assets.  

 

Business combinations 

Where property is acquired through the acquisition of entities, management consider the substance of the assets and 

activities acquired. When acquiring a group of assets or net assets that do not constitute a business, the cost price is 

allocated between the individual identifiable assets and liabilities acquired based on their relative fair values as at the 

acquisition date. Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The acquisition is recognized 

at the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any non-

controlling interest in the acquire. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in 

the acquire either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquirer’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs 

incurred are expensed. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of 

any non-controlling interests in the acquire, and the fair value of the acquirer’s net assets. 

 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements requires the regular use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will 

seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the group’s accounting 

policies.  

 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances.  

 

An overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which are more likely 

to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be wrong are presented below. 

 

(a) Carrying value of land and work in progress and estimation of costs to complete 

In order to assess the appropriateness of the carrying value of inventory, the Group is required to make estimations of 

sales prices, costs and margins expected on sites in order to determine whether any write-downs or reversals are 

required to ensure inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The net realizable value exercise is 

highly sensitive to the assumptions used and we therefore also consider when the inventory is likely to be realized, 

whether or not there has been a sustained change in market conditions and the wider economic environment existing 

at the balance sheet date. 

 

The Group has established procedures designed to effectively assess and centrally review inventory carrying values and 

ensure the appropriateness of the estimates made. These assessments and allocations evolve over the life of the 

development in line with the risk profile, and accordingly the margin recognized reflects these evolving assessments, 

particularly in relation to the Group’s long-term developments. 

 

b) Recognition of deferred tax asset for carried forward tax losses  

Aspects of tax accounting require management judgement and interpretation of tax legislation. In determining the 

carrying amounts of deferred tax assets, management is required to assess the timing of the utilization of provisions for  

tax purposes and whether it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to enable the asset to be 

recovered. No deferred tax assets have been recorded at December 31, 2016. 
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c) Recognition of intangible assets 

Virtually all of the group’s intangible assets relates to the business combination, see note 25. The estimated fair value of 

intangible assets amounts to NOK 120 263 thousand. The intangible assets comprise proprietary knowledge and 

licenses relating to HIV research activities of the Company. The value of the intangible assets are further supported by 

the market cap of Bionor Pharma ASA prior to the announcement of the reverse acquisition of Solon Eiendom AS. 

The intangible assets will be amortized over the sales period for the related products, commencing upon marketing 

approval or launch of sales. Currently, none of the Group’s intangible assets are sufficiently advanced, such that 

amortization has not yet commenced. Based on the evaluation in connection with the PPA no goodwill has been 

identified as a consequence of the transaction. 

 

The management has reviewed the intangible assets per year end and have concluded that in the period from mid to 

end of December there has been no events that should indicate any impairment of the Vacc-4x, the technology 

platform or related patents as the underlying intangible assets. 

Segments 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the CEO and 

management group. This group is responsible for investment decisions, allocates the Group’s resources and reviews the 

internal reporting in order to assess performance. For the purposes of internal reporting the Group uses the percentage 

of completion method when accounting for residential real estate projects. The degree of completion is estimated 

based on expenses incurred relative to total estimated cost and sales rate. Operating profit/(loss) under the percentage 

of completion method also includes an estimated profit element. 

In addition to its segment for residential real estate development activities, the Group has a Biopharmaceutical 

segment whose primary activity is related to research and development of pharmaceutical vaccines.  

 

Revenue recognition  

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are 

net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Specific information on 

certain kinds of revenue are included below. 

 

(a) Residential real estate development properties 

Revenue is recognized in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 

transferred to the purchaser. Revenue in respect of the sale of residential properties is recognized at the fair value of 

the consideration received or receivable on legal completion. 

  

Management has assessed that, the relevant agreements with customers do not meet the definition of a construction 

contact in IAS 11, following the interpretation of IFRIC 15. Consequently, revenue is recognized at the point in time 

when risks and rewards of ownership have been passed to the customer, defined to be upon delivery of the residential 

property to the customer in accordance with IAS 18.   

  

(b) Rental income 

Rental income is recognized in the income statement on a straight line basis over the life of the lease. Any lease 

incentives is recognized as an integral part of the total rental income.  

 

Inventories 

Property in the course of development and completed units are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Direct cost comprises the cost of land, raw materials, borrowing costs and development costs but excludes indirect 

overheads. A provision is recorded, where appropriate, to reduce the value of inventories and work in progress to their 

net realizable value. Net realizable value is equal to the net present value of the estimated sales price, based on fair 

value at the balance sheet date. 
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Borrowing costs are included in direct cost until the asset is prepared for its intended use or sale. Borrowing costs are 

capitalized from the date where there is a detailed zoning plan and the Group actively works with the planning 

regulations. 

  

Land purchased for development, including land in the course of development, is initially recorded at cost. Where such 

land is purchased on deferred settlement terms, and the cost differs from the amount that will subsequently be paid in 

settling the liability, this difference is charged as a finance cost in the income statement over the period to settlement. 

Commercial premises developed in connection with and required by the local regulation in the housing development 

projects are considered to be inventory.  

 

Investment properties 

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the 

companies in the consolidated Group, is classified as investment property. Investment property also includes property 

that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property. Investment property is measured initially 

at its cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.  

  

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Investment property that is being redeveloped for 

continuing use as investment property or for which the market has become less active continues to be measured at fair 

value. 

  

Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for differences in the nature, location or condition of 

the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods, such as recent 

prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Valuations are performed as of the balance sheet 

date by professional valuation experts who hold recognized and relevant professional qualifications and have recent 

experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued. These valuations form the basis for 

the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 

  

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and other 

assumptions market participants would make when pricing the property under current market conditions. 

  

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic 

benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 

other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an investment property is replaced, 

the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. 

  

Changes in fair values are recognized in the income statement. Investment properties are derecognized when they have 

been disposed. 

 

Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are 

included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 

reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance is recognized as 

an expense during the period in which it is incurred. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, generally 3-10 

years. The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually, and adjusted if appropriate. An asset’s carrying 

amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the 

income statement as other gain/(loss) net.  
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Intangible assets  

Intangible assets acquired through a business combination are initially recognized at fair value, and otherwise at 

acquisition cost. The asset’s residual value and expected useful life are reviewed on an annual basis and adjusted if 

necessary. If an asset’s carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount, the asset will be adjusted down to the 

recoverable amount. Any gain or loss arising from the disposal of an asset will be determined as the difference between 

the asset’s sales price and carrying value, and recognized in the income statement. 

 

Research and development 

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (related to 

design and testing of new or improved products) are recognized as intangible assets, provided the company can 

demonstrate a technical feasibility to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, how the 

asset can generate future economic benefits, that they have sufficient resources to complete the asset and that the 

development costs can be measured reliably. Development expenses previously recognized as an expense are not 

recognized as an asset in subsequent periods. Capitalized development costs are recognized as cost less any 

accumulated amortization and impairment loss.  

 

Intangible assets – amortization of capitalized research and development costs 

Capitalized research and development cost is amortized over the period during which the capitalized research and 

development costs are expected to generate benefit for the Group. Typically this is over the expected sales period for 

the related products, commencing upon marketing approval or launch of sales. Currently, none of the Group’s 

intangible assets are sufficiently advanced, and amortization has not yet commenced. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the categories loans and receivables, and other financial liabilities. The 

recognition is based on the type of instrument and the purpose on initial recognition. Financial assets and financial 

liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument 

(defined as expiry date). 

 

Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market, these instruments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, discounting is 

omitted where the effect of discounting is considered to be immaterial.  

 

Other liabilities 

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received net of transaction costs. 

Subsequent measurement is amortized cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a 

method for calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and allocating the interest expense over the contractual 

period. The effective interest rate is the rate that accurately discounts the estimated future cash flows over the 

expected life of the financial liability or over a shorter period when relevant.  The estimated market rate on loans 

between companies within the Group as well as between subsidiaries and external lenders, which has been used to 

calculate net present value of future cash flow is a non-observable factor since there are few comparable transactions 

of debt instruments for companies in a similar situation. 

 

Impairment of financial assets  

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value, usually nominal amount. A provision for impairment of trade 

receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 

according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The 

amount of the provision is recognized in the income statement. 
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Derivatives 

Derivative financial assets and liabilities are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (held for 

trading). Derivative financial assets and liabilities comprise mainly interest rate swap for hedging purposes (economic 

hedge). The Group does not apply hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39. Recognition of the derivative financial 

instruments takes place when the economic hedging contracts are entered into. They are measured initially and 

subsequently at fair value; transaction costs are included directly in finance costs. Gains or losses on derivatives are 

recognized under other gains and losses in the profit or loss statement. 

 

Leasing 

Classification of agreements is based on an assessment of if substantially all risks and rewards in regards of ownership 

of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. 

 

Finance leases 

The lease will be capitalized if substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. Capitalized leases 

are classified as fixed assets and are depreciated over their useful lives. 

 

Operating leases 

Operating leases are leases for which most of the risk and rewards rest with the other contracting party. The lease 

payments are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis during the contract period. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at hand and deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

 

Equity 

Treasury shares 

When treasury shares are acquired, the purchase price, including directly attributable costs, are recognized as a 

deduction from equity. The cumulative gain or loss on sales of treasury shares is presented on a net basis in equity. Net 

accumulated losses on sales of treasury shares are recognized under other retained earnings, while net accumulated 

gains are recognized under other equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the purchase of treasury shares and 

the related income tax effects are included in Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company. 

 

Transaction costs 

Transaction costs directly related to raising share capital are recorded as a reduction of equity. 

 

Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that 

are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Tax expense consists of tax payable and change in deferred 

tax. 

 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

• When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither profit or loss 

• In respect to taxable temporary differences from investments in foreign subsidiaries and associates when the timing 

of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable the temporary differences will not 

reverse foreseeable future. 
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and 

unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be 

utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it 

has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 

realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 

the reporting date. 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 

against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 

taxation authority. 

 

Share-based payments 

The Company has equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for key management. The cost of equity-settled 

transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using Black Scholes model. The cost is 

recognized through the profit or loss allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the 

number of share options expected to be vested. At reporting date the company assesses the estimated number of 

options expected to be vested. The effect of the assessment of the original estimates, if any, is recognized through 

profit or loss as well as change in equity. Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly 

attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess 

being recorded as share premium. 

When the terms of an equity-settled share-based remuneration plan are modified, the minimum expense recognized is 

the expense had the terms not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is 

recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is 

otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is 

more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been 

reliably estimated. Long term provisions are measured at the net present value of management’s best estimate of the 

expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. 

 

Events after reporting date 

New information on the Group’s financial position at the end of the reporting period which becomes known after the 

reporting period is recorded in the annual accounts. Events after the reporting period that do not affect the Group’s 

financial position on the end of the reporting period but which will affect the Group’s financial position in the future are 

disclosed if significant. 

 

Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement is prepared by using the indirect method and shows cash flow for respectively operational, 

investing and financing activities and explains the change in cash and cash equivalents during the period. 

 



SOLON EIENDOM ANNUAL REPORT, PAGE 24 
 

Note 2 Adoption of new and revised reporting standards and interpretations  

The new and revised or amended standards adopted in the current period have not had an impact on the recognition 

and measurement of assets and liabilities or presentation and disclosures in the financial statements, but may affect 

the accounting for future transactions or arrangements.  

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments and interpretations have been published by the IASB and endorsed by the EU 

with effect for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 

customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services. IFRS 15 will be effective on January 1, 2018. 

The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 on the recognition from sale of residential real estate property. 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will eventually replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. In 

order to expedite the replacement of IAS 39, the IASB divided the project into phases: classification and measurement, 

hedge accounting and impairment. New principles for impairment were published in July 2014 and the standard is now 

completed. The parts of IAS 39 that have not been amended as part of this project has been transferred into IFRS 9. 

IFRS 9 will be effective on January 1, 2018. 

• IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties 

to a contract, ie the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’). The new leases standard requires lessees to 

recognise assets and liabilities for most leases, which is a significant change from current requirements. For lessor, IFRS 

16 substantially carries forward the accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its 

leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently. IFRS 16 will be 

effective on January 1, 2019. 

IFRS 9 and IFRS 16 new standards, are not expected to have a significant impact on the recognition and measurement 

of assets and liabilities or presentation and disclosures in the financial statements, but may affect the accounting for 

future transactions or arrangements. 

 

Note 3 Segment information 
Management has determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed by the CEO and management group 

who make investment decisions, allocates the Group’s resources and reviews the internal reporting in order to assess 

performance. The financial information below was reported to the CEO and the management group at the end of the 

reporting period.  The main segment is defined as Residential Real Estate Development. In addition the Group has the 

Biopharmaceutical segment consisting of research and development of HIV vaccines. The main activities for all 

segments are performed in Norway. 

 

The Group uses the percentage of completion in the internal reporting where completion is determined considering 

costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs of sales and sales rate. Revenues also includes an estimated profit 

element for sold units. The Group management assesses the profit/(loss) from the segments based on EBITDA where 

percentage of completion method is used. The measurement method is defined as earnings before "Depreciation and 

amortization", "Other gains & losses" and "Share of profit from associates." Financial income and expenses are not 
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allocated to the defined segments since this type of activity is managed by a central treasury department that manages 

the Group's liquidity. 

 

In the consolidated income statement, revenue is recognized in accordance with IAS 18, where the recognition of 

revenue occurs at the time of transfer of risk and control, which is the date for the handover of units.  

 

 

 

 

 

Note 4 Revenue 

 
 

 

 

 

2016

Amounts in NOK thousand

Residential real 

estate 

development

Biopharmaceutical Unallocated adjustments IFRIC 15 adjustment Total

Revenue 787 167 -                                15 413 (111 084) 691 497

Project expenses 606 739 -                                14 302 (62 371) 558 670

Other operating expenses 50 820 8 825                       (911) -                                   58 734

Depreciation and amortisation 1 808 -                                (1 179) -                                   629

EBITDA 129 609 (8 825) 2 022 (48 713) 74 093

EBITDA margin 16,47 %

Units in production 259 -                                -                                           -                                   259

Delivered units 113 -                                -                                           -                                   113

Units sold 146 -                                -                                           -                                   146

Total assets 1 509 508 193 282                   179 291                              (48 713) 1 833 367

2015

Amounts in NOK thousand

Residential real 

estate 

development

Biopharmaceutical Unallocated adjustments IFRIC 15 adjustment Total

Revenue 804 847 -                                30 035 (107 683) 727 200

Project expenses 645 718 -                                11 339 (103 471) 553 586

Other operating expenses 42 120 -                                3 936 -                                   46 056

Depreciation and amortisation 1 680 -                                (1 250) -                                   430

EBITDA 117 010 -                                14 760 (4 212) 127 558

EBITDA margin 14,54 %

Units in production 140 -                                -                                           -                                   140

Delivered units 111 -                                -                                           -                                   111

Units sold 125 -                                -                                           -                                   125

Total assets 1 376 458 -                                135 082                              (4 212) 1 507 329

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Sale of goods 648 597 651 359

Rental income 32 536 26 584

Sale of property 4 641 18 610

Sale of subsidiaries -                     27 222

Other income 5 722 3 424

Total revenues 691 497 727 200
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Note 5 Inventories 
The Group has land and buildings which are intended for sale in ordinary course of business or which are under 

construction or development for such sale. Inventories thus includes land, property for resale, property under 

development and construction. 

 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

 
 

Included in construction under development is salary of NOK 12 457 thousand in 2016 and NOK 7 890 thousand in 

2015. In addition interest is capitalized in construction under development with an amount of NOK 34 532 thousand in 

2016 and NOK 27 786 thousand in 2015. There are no completed units that are not sold at year end 2015 and 2016. 

 

Note 6 Personnel expense  

 
 
The salary of the Group CEO is determined by the Board. The salary of the Chief Financial Officer is determined by the 

Group CEO in consultation with the Chairman of the Board.  

 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Land 548 381 594 765       

Construction under development 620 044 482 576       

Total 1 168 425 1 077 341    

Employee benefit expenses 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Salary expenses 13 272 13 179

Bonus payment 6 419 11 408

Social security cost 3 796 1 961

Pension expenses 314 262

Other personnel expenses 1 394 364

Salaries capitalized in inventory (12 457) (7 890)

Total personnel expenses 12 738 19 284

Average number of employees 13,5 13

Pensions

    Norway

Remuneration to key management

Amounts in NOK thousand Salary Bonus Pension

Other 

benefits Total

2016

Andreas Martinussen Group CEO and General Manager 2 049 - 20 -                    2 069

Tarjei Røise Warholm Chief Financial Officer 952 100 18 -                    1 070

Torgils Kvam Project Leader 1 071 2 176 82 72 3 401

Tom Andre Svenning Gultvedt Project Leader 365 12 128 6 -                    12 499

Amounts in NOK thousand Salary Bonus Pension

Other 

benefits Total

2015

Andreas Martinussen Group CEO and General Manager 1 734 - 20 -                    1 754

Tarjei Røise Warholm Chief Financial Officer 956 -                    22 -                    978

Torgils Kvam Project Leader 1 029 464 60 111 1 664

Tom Andre Svenning Gultvedt Project Leader 365 2 300 6 -                    2 671

Norwegian companies are required to have occupational pension schemes according to the law on compulsory occupational pension. The Group's 

pension schemes meet the requirements of this act. The pension plans cover all  employees and are reported as defined contribution under IFRS.
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Bonus is based on performance targets in Solon Eiendom ASA. The maximum size of bonus payment to the Group CEO 

is determined by the Board and has an upper limit of 100% of annual base salary. Bonus payment to the project leaders 

is determined by project results. The bonus for the CFO was discretionary. 

 

The Group CEO has up to 12 months of paid termination notice if the company terminates the employment 

relationship. The Chief Financial Officer and the project leaders has up to a 3 months paid termination notice if the 

company terminates the employment relationship. 

 

See Note 19 in Solon Eiendom ASA for remuneration guidelines. 

 

On December 23,2016, the Board of Directors of Solon Eiendom granted the CEO options to acquire 150 000 000 new 

shares in Solon.  The options vest in three tranches with 1/3 per tranche the first, second and third anniversary after 

grant at strike price of NOK 0.18, 0.20 and 0.22, respectively. All options expire March 1, 2021. For information related 

to loans or pledges given to the Group CEO, Chairman of the Board or other related parties see note 22. 

 

Remuneration to the Board of Directors is based on accrued amounts in the financial statements. No fees have been 

paid to the Board of Directors in 2016 and 2015. The fee to the Board is set by the Group’s Annual General Assembly 

and paid quarterly during the period of appointment. The accrued remuneration is based on Management's best 

estimate.  

 

Note 7 Operating expense 
Operating expense consists of the following 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Premises 6 678                6 201                

Consultancy expenses 1 732                1 999                

Commissions and sales-related expenses -                         667                   

Loss on bad debts 3 570                6 328                

Acquisition cost 9 493                -                         

Other expenses 8 905                9 710                

Total other operating expenses 30 378 24 905
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Note 8 Financial items 

 
 

Note 9 Tax 

  

Financial income

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Interest income on bank deposits 191 311

Other financial income 1 539 3 887

Total financial income 1 730 4 198

Financial expense

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Interest expense on bank overdrafts and loans (32 922) (24 572)

Other financial expenses (5 154) (6 118)

Total financial expense (38 076) (30 690)

Net financial items (36 346) (26 492)

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Tax payable 28 238                   130                        

Change in statutory tax rate (1%) (3 260) -                         

Other changes (494) -                         

Avsatt for mye (-)/ lite (+) i fjor -                         

Change in deferred tax (14 549) 11 161                   

Net tax expense 9 935                     11 291                   

2016 2015

Profit before tax 37 118                   100 636                

Permanent differences including dividends 34 293                   (19 005)

Tax loss carryforward incl  group tax contribution (76 951) -                         

Change in temporary differences 118 491                (81 151)

Taxable income 112 951                480                        

Tax (25%) 28 238                   130                        

2016 2015

Tax payable 28 238                   130                        

28 238                   130                        

2016 2015

Property, plant and equipment -                         1 613                     

Investment property (6 678) 6 128                     

Gain "gevinst/tapskonto" 878                        1 144                     

Land and projects 218 295                262 179                

Derivatives (2 095) (3 060)

Guarantees (2 807) (1 523)

Tax loss carryforward (57 377) (63 861)

Sum 150 216                202 620                

Recorded deferred tax liabil ity (24%/25%) 36 106                   50 655                   

Recorded deferred tax asset (24%) (55) -                         

Tax payable balance sheet



SOLON EIENDOM ANNUAL REPORT, PAGE 29 
 

Bionor Pharma AS (NOK 341,9 millon) and Solon Eiendom ASA (previously Bionor Pharma ASA) (NOK 353,7 million) has 

tax losses carried forward in Norway, which can be offset against future tax profit in the group. The tax loss carry 

forward can be carried forward for an unlimited period of time. The related deferred tax asset has not been recognized 

as an asset in the financial statements due to uncertainty of the value of the tax position.  

All recorded tax assets are related to the real estate development. 

 

Note 10 Intangible assets 

 
 

On December 15, 2016, Bionor Pharma ASA acquired through a reverse acquisition 100% of the outstanding shares in 

Solon Eiendom AS and subsequently changed name to Solon Eiendom ASA. The subsidiary of Bionor Pharma ASA, 

Bionor Pharma AS (former Bionor Immuno AS)  is a biopharmaceutical company and in the business combination all 

excess values  have been allocated to the intangible assets. The estimated fair value of the intangible assets amounts to 

NOK 120 263 thousand. The intangible assets comprise proprietary knowledge and licenses relating to the HIV research 

activities of the segment. The intangible assets will be amortized over the sales period for the related products, 

commencing upon marketing approval or launch of sales. Currently, none of the intangible assets are sufficiently 

advanced, such that amortization has not yet commenced. No other fair value adjustments are made in the preliminary 

PPA and based on the preliminary evaluation in connection with the PPA no goodwill has been identified as a 

consequence of the transaction. 

 

Bionor Pharma ASA were listed at OSE and on November 21, 2016 the Company announced the acquisition of Solon 

Eiendom AS. The last trading day before this announcement, on November 18, 2016, the market value of the company 

exceeds the book value of the intangible assets. After November 21, 2016 there has been no events that should 

indicate any impairment of the Vacc-4x, the technology platform or related patents as the underlying intangible assets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Amounts in NOK thousand

HIV 

Vacc-4x

Technology 

platform Total

Cost:

At January 1, 2016                     -                        -                 - 

Additions        108 862            11 401   120 263 

Disposals                     -                        -                 - 

At December 31, 2016        108 862            11 401   120 263 

Amortisation:

At December 14, 2016                     -                        -                 - 

Amortisation charge for the year                     -                        -                 - 

Disposals                        -                 - 

At December 31, 2016                     -                        -                 - 

Carrying value at December 31, 2016        108 862            11 401   120 263 
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment 

 

 
 

 

 

Note 12 Investment properties 

 
 
Solon Eiendom owns one investment property, Fjordveien 1 at Høvik in Bærum, Norway. The investment property is 

valued in accordance with the fair value method and has been valued in accordance with valuation Level 3. The 

investment property is appraised by an external appraiser.  There are no restrictions related to realization of the 

investment property. 

 

Valuation method 

The valuation have been performed using a yield-based method applying the cash flow model, i.e. based on forecasts of 

future cash flows. The cash flow consists of estimated rental payments with a deduction for operating payments (giving 

the operating surplus) and known investments, resulting in the property's cash flow. The yield level of the property has 

been determined on the basis of the unique risk and transactions made at the location. Changes during the period in 

the non-observable input data applied in the valuations are analyzed by the key management when closing the 

accounts in relation to internally available information, transactions that been carried out or which are planned and 

information from the external appraisers. 

 

Basis for valuation 

Each assumption about a property is assessed individually on the basis of the material available about the property as 

well as the market information and experience-based assessments of the external appraisers. 

Amounts in NOK thousand Total

Cost:

At January 1, 2016       2 341 

Additions       2 132 

Disposals                - 

At December 31, 2016       4 473 

Depreciation:

Depreciation charge for the year         (629)

Disposals                - 

At December 31, 2016         (629)

Carrying value at December 31, 2016       3 844 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Total value of investment property, opening balance 197 955                 -                               

Additions from acquisition -                               190 949

Additions from investment related to properties 14 507                    8 872

Recognized in the income statement in the period (12 463) (1 866)

Total value of investment property 200 000                 197 955                 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Rental income 14 945                    13 595                    

Operating and maintenance cost 2 319                      3 189                      

General and administrative expenses 932                         596                         
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Note 13 Accounts receivable and other current receivables 

 
 

 

Note 14 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 

Restricted bank accounts consists mainly of deposits for employee payroll withholding tax. In addition, Solon Eiendom 

has arranged security for guarantees given in accordance with the Housing Construction Act of NOK 245 395 thousand 

in 2016 and NOK 272 639 thousand in 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aging of accounts receivable

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Up to 3 months 571 1 064

Between 3 and 6 months 693 146

More than 6 months 625 154

Total accounts receivable 1 889 1 364

Other current receivables

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

VAT payable -                         -                         

Prepaid expenses -                         -                         

Other current receivables 76 985 99 238

Total other current receivables 76 985 99 238

Management has assessed that there is no need for impairment on accounts receivable. The maximum exposure to credit risk 

at the balance sheet date is the carrying value of accounts receivables as disclosed above. The Group holds no security in 

trade receivables as collateral. 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Cash 238 642 122 128

Restricted bank accounts 5 064 1 134

Total cash and cash equivalents 238 642 122 128
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Note 15 Share capital and shareholder information  
The share capital in the parent company at December 31, 2016 consists of the following share classes 

 

 
 

On March 21, 2017, the company held an extraordinary general meeting.  The extraordinary general meeting approved 

a share capital increase and a reverse split of the company’s shares in the ratio of 200:1.  Further a share capital 

decrease of NOK 923 306 064 from NOK 971 901 120 to NOK 48 595 056 was approved. 

The Company's Extraordinary General Assembly (EGM) December 2016 granted the Board the mandate to issue up to 

667 million shares in a subsequent offering. The EGM also gave the Board the mandate to issue up to 486 million shares 

in connenction with the Group's option program.  The mandate is valid until the next AGM, but no later than June 30, 

2017. The EGM also gave the Board the mandate to purchase up to 905 million treasury shares. This mandate is valid 

until June 30, 2017. 

 

 

 

Number of shares

Nominal amount 

in NOK

Book value in 

NOK 

Ordinary shares 9 052 344 387     0,1 905 234 439        

Changes in share capital 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Share capital  at period start 62 328                  62 082                   

Share capital  decrease with change in par value (50 350)                 -                             

Share capital  increase private placement 220 845                79                          

Share capital  increase aquisition 666 667                -                             

Share capital  increase exercise of warrants 1                            -                             

Share capital  increase exercise of options -                             167                        

Share capital  increase subsequent offering 5 745                    -                             

Share Capital at period end 905 235                62 328                  

Amounts of shares thousands 2016 2015

Outstanding  number of shares at period start 249 310                248 326                

Share capital  increase private placement 2 113 380            317                        

Share capital  increase aquisition 6 666 667            -                             

Share capital  increase exercise of warrants 9                            -                             

Share capital  increase exercise of options -                             667                        

Share capital  increase subsequent offering 22 979                  -                             

Outstanding  number of shares at period end 9 052 344            249 310                

The par value per share was changed on September 9, 2016 to NOK 0.10 from NOK 0.25. Change in share capital in 2016 

reflects the equity issue through a private placement  February 11, 2016 followed by a subsequent repair offering March 3, 

2016, a private placement on September 9,  2016, a private placement on November 21, 2016, exercise of warrants in 

November 2016, a reverse acquisition and a private placement on December 14, 2016.  
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Note 16 Earnings per share 
Earnings per share are normally calculated by dividing profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 

entity by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. However, calculations of the 

number of outstanding ordinary shares in a reverse acquisition are treated in accordance with IFRS3 – Business 

combination. Accordingly, the number of shares in the reverse acquisition at December 14,2016 shall be based on the 

legal subsidiary/accounting acquirer (Solon Eiendom AS). At the beginning of the presented periods the number of 

shares shall be based on the number of consideration shares (6 666 666 666) issued to the shareholders of Solon 

Eiendom AS in the transaction. 

 

The Company had 9 052 344 387 (including 1 625 treasury shares) at the end of the year. Diluted earnings per share are 

calculated as profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company divided by weighted average number 

Ownership structure

Shareholder Ordinary Shares Ownership

* HORTULAN AS 2 333 333 332 25,8 %

* SOLON AS 1 629 666 667 18,0 %

ALDEN AS 1 011 515 271 11,2 %

* DUKAT AS 570 333 334 6,3 %

FERNCLIFF LISTED DAI 183 333 333 2,0 %

DATUM AS 183 333 333 2,0 %

NORRON SICAV - TARGE 149 999 979 1,7 %

* JOHN GALT INVEST AS 133 333 333 1,5 %

* CIPRIANO AS 116 666 667 1,3 %

HØIE LARS HENRIK 106 708 966 1,2 %

VERDIPAPIRFONDET DNB 102 175 085 1,1 %

MORGAN STANLEY & CO. 100 286 071 1,1 %

THABO ENERGY AS 100 000 000 1,1 %

UBS AG 94 844 000 1,0 %

ARCTIC SECURITIES AS 88 145 228 1,0 %

SWEDBANK GENERATOR 87 656 000 1,0 %

PERESTROIKA AS 75 000 000 0,8 %

NORDA ASA 71 875 369 0,8 %

EUROCLEAR BANK N.V. 60 533 763 0,7 %

NORDNET LIVSFORSIKRI 59 035 644 0,7 %

Top 20 shareholders 7 257 775 375 80,2 %

Total other shareholder 1 794 569 012 19,8 %

Total number of shares 9 052 344 387 100 %

* Shares owned by Members of the Board and Executive Management

Shareholder Position Ordinary Shares

Hortulan AS Simen Thorsen Chairman 2 333 333 332

Cipriano AS Einar J. Greve Deputy Chairman 116 666 667

Solon AS and Dukat AS Tore Aksel Voldberg Board member 2 200 000 001

Adekvat Invest AS Bente Bøhler Board member 6 045 333

Katarina Finneng Board member -

John Galt Invest AS Andreas Martinussen Director 133 333 333

Total shares hold 4 789 378 666
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of shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive subscription rights. Diluting effects have been accounted 

for the subscription rights (666 666 666) for the Subsequent Offering approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting 

on December 14, 2016 since they were “in the money” at end of the period. No diluting effects have been accounted 

for in relation to share options. Potential ordinary shares shall be treated as dilutive when, and only when, their 

conversion to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share or increase loss per share from continuing operations. 

Potential ordinary shares are not treated as dilutive since they have a positive impact on loss per share.  

 

Adjustment for the number of treasury shares is taken into consideration in the calculations below. 

 

 

 

Note 17 Dividends 

 
 

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and therefore no 

liability has been recorded at December 31, 2016. The dividend per share is based on the number of shares after the 

reverse split, see note 15. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2016 2015

22 327               75 189               

6 777 475 208 6 666 666 666 

6 808 440 600 6 666 666 666 

0,004                 0,011                 

0,004                 0,011                 

Table showing average number of outstanding share basic and diluted in 2016.

IB Issues

 Cumulativ 

outstanding 

 Average 

outstanding 

 Ex 1625

treasury shares 

Number of shares outstanding: 31.12.2015 6 666 666 666 6 357 012 750 

Share issue reverse acquisition 14.12.2016 1 385 677 721 -                      

Share issue private placement 14.12.2016 1 000 000 000 9 052 344 387 420 464 084     

Number of shares basic EPS 31.12.2016 2 385 677 721 9 052 344 387 6 777 476 833 6 777 475 208 

Subscription rights repair issue (Jan 17) 14.12.2016 666 666 666     9 719 011 053 30 965 392       

Number of shares diluted EPS 31.12.2016 3 052 344 387 9 719 011 053 6 808 442 225 6 808 440 600 

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent (NOK thousand)

Average number of outstanding share basic (excl treasury shares)

Average number of outstanding share diluted (excl  treasury shares)

Earnings per share – basic

Earnings per share – diluted

Amounts in NOK thousand unless otherwhise stated 2016 2015

Amounts recognized as distributions to equity shareholders in the year:

Final  dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 of 500 NOK (2014: 200 NOK) per share 50 000 20 000

Total dividends distributed to equity shareholders in the year 50 000 20 000

Proposed 2016 2015

Final  dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016 of NOK 1,0289 (2015: 0 NOK) per share 50 000 -              
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Note 18 Interest-bearing liabilities 

 
 
 

The fair value of the liability is consider to be equal to its book value according to the amortized cost as shown above. 
 

Covenants 

The company’s term loan facilities with various financial institutions contain standard market terms and covenants.  The 

main covenants relate to minimum equity of NOK 350 million and 20% equity ratio based on consolidated financial 

statements and a minimum liquidity requirement of NOK 25 million.  In addition there are covenants related to 

standard information requirements related to changes in ownership, share capital reductions, sale of business areas 

and dividends. 

 

During Q4 2016 the Company received a waiver from a financial institution related to the 20% covenant requirement 

due to uncertainty related to the reverse takeover in December 2016. The equity ratio at year end 2016 was 28%. 

 

Interest rate swap 

Solon Eiendom has a fixed interest rate swap hedging a portion of the interest bearing debt in the investment property 

Fjordveien (see note 12). 

 

Assets pledged as security 

Inventory, including projects under development, land and completed units with book value at December 31, 2016 of 

NOK 1 168 425 thousand is pledged as security. In addition the 10 per cent prepayment from customers are secured as 

required by section 12 of the Housing Construction Act (Bustadoppføringsloven). 

 

 

Note 19 Other short-term liabilities and prepayments from customers 

 
 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Non- current  liabilities due > 1 year

Land Bank 327 993 339 512

Property Under Construction 132 638 228 743

Commercial 176 845 180 324

Other 28 250       85 207

Total non- current interest bearing liabilites 665 726 833 786

Current liabilities due within one year

Land Bank 118 554 60 350

Property Under Construction 249 739 150 273

Commercial -                  7 500

Overdraft facil ity -                  30 805

Other -                  -                           

Total current interest bearing liabilities 368 293 248 928

Total interest bearing liabilities 1 034 019 1 082 714

Other short term liabil ities consist of the following items:

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Accrued employee benefits 6 051 12 815

Accrued costs 3 580 3 014

Deposits and on account contract receipts 72 87

Other current items 8 131 39 898

Total other short-term liabilities 17 834 55 814
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Residential real estate buyers in Norway generally pay 10% of the purchase price when a purchase contract is entered 

into and the remaining 90% upon delivery of the residential unit.  

 

 

Note 20 Financial risk 
20.1 Financial risks 

Through its activities, the group will be exposed to different types of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity 

risk. This note presents information related to the Group's exposure to such risks, the Group's objectives, policies and 

procedures for risk management, as well as the Group's management of capital. Additional quantitative information is 

included in these consolidated financial statements.  

 

The CEO and the management identifies and evaluates financial risks on an ongoing basis. 

 

The Group's overall risk management plan is to ensure the ongoing liquidity in the group, defined as to being able to 

meet its obligations at any time. 

Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to take into account changes in the market and the 

Group's activities. 

 

(a) Market risk 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

The Group is a Norwegian residential real estate developer focusing on Norwegian development projects and 

properties. The Group has no material investments in foreign businesses, nor any financial instruments denominated in 

foreign currencies at year-end, and consequently the Group has no material exposure to foreign currency risk.  

 

(ii) Price risk 

The Group is generally exposed to price risk related to property, and geographically the Group is exposed in Norway. 

The Group is also exposed to risks associated with construction costs and commodity prices. 

The profit margin for each project will vary depending on the trend in sales revenue per square meter of residential real 

estate. The Group's price risk is reduced as housing equivalent to 60% of total sales value of a project is sold prior to 

construction. The Group is not exposed to price risk in financial instruments. 

 

(iii) Interest rate risk 

The Group currently has certain indebtedness under existing debt facilities which is subject to variable interest rates. 

Interest rates are influenced by and highly sensitive to many factors, including but not limited to governmental, 

monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions, and other factors beyond the 

Group's control. Changes in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, operations, 

financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and/or prospects. 

 

b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is managed at the group level.  The Group has economic exposure against its customers and renters (for the 

Group's commercial properties) in its ordinary course of business (trade receivables).  

 

Residential real estate buyers in Norway generally pay 10% of the purchase price when a purchase contract is entered 

into and the remaining 90% upon delivery of the residential unit. Any re-sale of property prior to delivery and 

bankruptcy, insolvency or other inability by the Group's customers to pay their invoices when they fall due may 

Prepaymens from customers consist of the following items:

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Prepayments from customers 110 246 62 440
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materially adversely affect the Group's liquidity capital, results of operations, cash flow and/or financial condition. In 

order to reduce credit risk all customers are credit checked before contract signing.  

 

c) Liquidity risk 

The Group's liquidity risk is characterised by a potential risk of not being able to meet obligations to vendors and loan 

creditors.  

The Group is dependent on current financing agreements, renewal of these and/or obtaining new financing agreements 

to fund its operations, additional acquisitions and capital expenditures. 

The Group regularly monitors cash flow situation by setting up cash flow forecasts based on the forecasts of the 

liquidity reserves, including cash equivalents and borrowing facilities. The forecasts are set by the individual's 

subsidiaries and is regularly monitored by the group. 

See also note 18 Interest bearing liabilities for information on funding sources and payment profile. 

 

 
 

 
 

20.2 Capital management 

The Group's main goal is to maximize shareholder value while ensuring the Group's ability to continue operations, as 

well as to make sure that covenant criteria are met (see note 18 interest-bearing liability regarding financial covenant 

requirements). The Group has a target to maintain an optimal capital structure given the current market situation. The 

Group makes the necessary changes to their capital structure based on an ongoing assessment of the business' financial 

situation and future prospects in the short and medium term. Land acquisitions and construction are mainly financed 

through external bank financing.  Based on external valuations of the land bank and a minimum of 60% of units sold 

before construction starts, the total financing of the group is satisfactory. 

 

Interest bearing liabilities

Amounts in NOK thousand Note

Total at 31 

December 

2016

Less than 12 

months

Between 1 

and 2 years

Between 2 

and 5 years Over 5 years

Gross bank borrowings, long-term 18 1 034 019      369 410         227 988         280 297         156 325         

Total interest bearing liabilities 1 034 019      369 410         227 988         280 297         156 325         

Non-interest bearing liabilities

Amounts in NOK thousand Note

Total at 31 

December 

2016

Less than 12 

months

Between 1 

and 2 years

Between 2 

and 5 years Over 5 years

Accounts payable 83 998            83 998            -                       -                       -                       

Tax payable 19 28 238            28 238            -                       -                       -                       

Public duties payable 9 837              9 837              -                       -                       -                       

Other non-interest bearing liabil ities 17 834            17 834            -                       -                       -                       

Total non-interest bearing liabilities 139 907         139 907         -                       -                       -                       

Sensitivity analysis

Interest risk

2016

Adjustment in interest rates in basis points 50 100 150

Effect - borrowings 5 170              10 340            15 510            

Effect on cashflow (in NOK thousand) 5 170              10 340            15 510            

2015

Adjustment in interest rates in basis points 50 100 150

Effect - borrowings 5 799              11 598            17 397            

Effect on cashflow (in NOK thousand) 5 799              11 598            17 397            
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To achieve this goal, the Group focuses on the profitability of the various projects. In order to optimize the capital 

structure, management considers all available funding sources on an ongoing basis. 

 

 

20.3 Financial assets and liabilities 

 

 

 
 

 

 

20.4 Fair value  

 

Principles for estimating fair value 

Based on the characteristics of the financial instruments recognized in the consolidated financial statements, the 

financial instruments are grouped in classes as described below. The estimated fair value of financial instruments are 

based on available market prices and the valuation methods per class are described below. 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial instruments 

that are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability 

of the inputs used in determining fair value, the group has classified its financial instruments into the three levels 

prescribed under the accounting standards. 

 

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading 

and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted 

market price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 

1. 

 

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter 

derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as 

little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, 

the instrument is included in level 2. 

The group holds the following financial instruments:

Financial assets / Amounts in NOK thousand Note

Assets at 

FVOCI

Assets at 

FVPL

loans and 

receivables Total

2016

Trade and other receivables 13                    -                  -                  78 874            78 874            

Cash and cash equivalents 14                    -                  -                  238 642         238 642         

Total -                  -                  -                  317 516         

2015

Trade and other receivables 13                    -                  -                  100 602         100 602         

Cash and cash equivalents 14                    -                  -                  122 128         122 128         

Total -                  -                  222 730         222 730         

Financial liabilities / Amounts in NOK thousand Note

liabilities at 

FVOCI

liabilities at 

FVPL

other 

liabilities Total

2016

Trade and other payables -                  -                  250 153         250 153         

Borrowings -                  -                  1 034 019      1 034 019      

Derivative financial  instruments -                  2 012              -                  2 012              

Total -                  2 012              1 284 172      1 286 184      

2015

Trade and other payables -                  -                  184 113         184 113         

Borrowings -                  -                  1 082 714      1 082 714      

Derivative financial  instruments -                  3 060              -                  3 060              

Total -                  3 060              1 266 827      1 269 887      
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Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in 

level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities. 

 

 
 

Accounts receivable and other current and non-current financial assets 

For accounts receivable and other current and non-current financial assets the nominal amount adjusted for provisions 

for losses on receivables is considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. The effect of not discounting is 

considered immaterial for this class of financial instruments. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Fair value for this class of financial instruments are considered to be equal to the nominal amount. 

 

Trade payables and other non-interest bearing liabilities 

For accounts payable and other non-interest-bearing liabilities, the nominal amount considered to be a reasonable 

approximation of fair value. The effect of not discounting is considered immaterial for this class of financial 

instruments. 

 

Interest bearing liabilities 

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows 

using current market interest rate available to the Group for similar financial instruments. Fair value for this class of 

financial obligations is considered to be equal to the nominal amount. 

 

Note 21 Contingent liabilities and guarantees 

Contingent liabilities and guarantees relate mainly to land and construction loans from financial institutions to 

subsidiaries of Solon Eiendom AS.  The group fulfills all legal requirements pursuant to sections 12 and 47 of the 

Housing Construction Act though purchased guarantees.  In addition, it provides guarantees to contractors.  As such, no 

liabilities related to these guarantees are included in the statement of financial position. 

 

In addition, Solon Group has options to acquire two properties for a total investment of approximately NOK 265 

million.  The related option payments will be deducted from the acquisition cost of the properties once zoning is 

approved.  

 

  

Amounts in NOK thousand 

2016 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets – Investment properties 5 -                  -                  200 000         200 000         

Liabi lities – financial derivatives -                  2 012             -                  2 012             

Net gain/loss in the period (1 048) (12 463) (13 511)

Amounts in NOK thousand 

2015 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets – Investment properties 5 -                  -                  197 955         197 955         

Liabi lities – financial derivatives -                  3 060             -                  3 060             

Net gain/loss in the period (3 060) (1 866) (4 926)
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Note 22 Related party transactions 
Solon Group has the following related party transactions 

 

 
 

 

Note 23 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  

 
 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Transactions with related parties

Sale of units in real estate projects to key management, certain 

members of the Board of Directors and other related parties 36 100 45 270

Acquisition of a company owned by certain members of the Board of 

Directors and other related parties -                      90 000

Interest expense paid to key management/certain members of the 

Board of Directors and other related parties 2 937 3 915

Interest income received from key management 8 6

Loans to/from related parties

Loans from key management/ BoD and other related parties -                      33 000

Loans to key management 210 210

Business Voting

Company Acquisition date Office percentage

Bygdøy Boligutvikling DA 03.02.2016 Norway 50 % 50 %

Ullevål Utvikling AS 01.09.2015 Norway 50 % 50 %

Tunejordet Eiendomsinvest AS 09.11.2015 Norway 9 % 9 %

Sabimed AS 30.12.2011 Norway 0 % 0 %

Company / (Amounts in NOK thousand)

Ownership 

percentage

Book value at 

1 January 2016

Additions/ 

disposals Share of P&L

Equity 

adjustments 

and dividends

Book value at 

31 December 

2016

Bygdøy Boligutvikling DA 50 % -                    -                       -                    -                  -                  

Ullevål Utvikling AS 50 % 55                     -                       -                    -                  55                    

Tunejordet Eiendomsinvest AS 9 % 1 951                -                       -                    -                  1 951              

Sabimed AS 0 % 651                   (651) -                    -                  -                  

2 657                (651) -                    -                  2 006              

Company / (Amounts in NOK thousand)

Ownership 

percentage

Book value at 

1 January 2015

Additions/ 

disposals Share of P&L

Equity 

adjustments 

and dividends

Book value at 

31 December 

2015

Ullevål Utvikling AS 50 % -                         55 -                        -                       55

Tunejordet Eiendomsinvest AS 9 % 1951 -                            -                        -                       1 951

Sabimed AS 0 % 651 -                            -                        -                       651

2 602 55 -                        -                       2 657

Summary of financial information (100%) of Joint Ventures at 31 December

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Total assets 212 229 76 008

Total l iabilities (194 508) (55 945)

Net assets 17 721 20 063

Total revenues -                       -                       

Total profit for the year 158 (1 037)

Ownership 

percentage
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Note 24 Events after the balance sheet date 
On January 30, 2017, the company completed the subsequent offering of 666 666 666 new shares at a subscription 

price of NOK 0.15 per share. 

On March 21, 2017, the company held an extraordinary general meeting.  The extraordinary general meeting approved 

a share capital increase and a reverse split of the company’s shares in the ratio of 200:1.  Further a share capital 

decrease of NOK 923 306 064 from NOK 971 901 120 to NOK 48 595 056 was approved. 

Note 25 Transactions and changes in the company’s structure 
On November 21, 2016, the company announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire Solon Eiendom AS. 

The settlement of the transaction was made in shares valued at NOK 1 000 million. The transaction was completed on 

December 14, 2016.  

 

Reverse acquisition 

Bionor Pharma ASA acquired 100% of the outstanding shares in Solon Eiendom AS. In connection with the transaction 

Solon Eiendom AS gained a majority shareholding in Bionor Pharma ASA and gained control of the board of directors. In 

addition, the senior management team of the combined entity consists of the management team in Solon Eiendom. On  

December 15, 2016 Bionor Pharma ASA changed its name to Solon Eiendom ASA. 

 

The Company has performed an evaluation of the Business Combination and has determined that, with reference to 

relevant accounting considerations, this transaction constitutes a reverse acquisition under IFRS. As such, in accordance 

with IFRS 3, Solon Eiendom AS is the acquirer for accounting purposes ("Accounting acquirer") and Solon Eiendom ASA 

is the acquiree for accounting purposes ("Accounting acquiree"). Annual reports of Solon Eiendom ASA will be prepared 

under IFRS as if Solon Eiendom AS (the accounting acquirer) had acquired Solon Eiendom ASA (the Accounting acquiree) 

and comparative financial information will be retrospectively adjusted to reflect the continuation of the accounting 

acquirer's financial statements. As such the results of Bionor Pharma have been included in the consolidation income 

statement from December 15, 2016 to December 31, 2016. 

 

Presented below is the preliminary allocation of the purchase price based on the opening balances. Allocation of the 

purchase price was prepared using the acquisition method as regulated in IFRS 3. The purchase price has been allocated 

at the fair value of the assets and liabilities of Bionor Pharma. The purchase price allocation is preliminary pending the 

outcome of further investigation regarding the companies tax position. 
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Identified excess values 

Bionor Pharma is a biopharmaceutical company and all excess values in the business combination have been allocated 

to the intangible assets. The estimated fair value of the intangible assets amounts to NOK 120 263 thousand.  The 

intangible assets comprise proprietary knowledge and licenses relating to the HIV research activities of the segment. 

The intangible assets will be amortized over the sales period for the related products, commencing upon marketing 

approval or launch of sales.  Currently, none of the intangible assets are sufficiently advanced, such that amortization 

has not yet commenced. No other fair value adjustments are made in the preliminary PPA and based on the preliminary 

evaluation in connection with the PPA no goodwill has been identified as a consequence of the transaction.  

  

Consideration 

The total consideration in the transaction has been valued at NOK 210 million.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

Bionor Pharma 

Book value Excess value

Transaction 

Costs Group values

Goodwill 8 715               (8 715)             -                      -                      

Intangible assets 39 270             80 993             -                       120 263             

Property, plant and equipment 1 538               -                    -                       1 538                  

Other long term receivables 2 188               -                    -                       2 188                  

Total non-current assets 51 711             72 278             -                       123 989             

Receivales 15 136             -                    -                       15 136                

Transaction costs paid in Bionor Pharma 

before reverse acquisition -                    -                    20 497                20 497                

Cash and cash equivalents 60 157             -                    60 157                

Total current assets 75 293             -                    20 497                95 790                

Total assets 127 004           72 278             219 779             

Share capital 117 225           72 278             20 497                210 000             

Other equity -                    -                    -                       -                      

Total equity 117 225           72 278             20 497                210 000             

Total liabilities 9 779               -                    -                       9 779                  

Total equity and liabilities 127 004           72 278             20 497                219 779             

Net cash inflow (outflow) of the transaction (cash in aquired company) 60 157                

Result in the period December 15, 2016 to December 31, 2016 for the acquired company

2016

Revenue -                          

Other operating expense                   8 825 

Profit/(loss) for the period                 (8 825)

Proforma figures

2016

Revenue              691 497 

Operating Profit / (loss)                 (2 753)

Profit/(loss) for the period               (51 468)

The table below presents the revenue, operating profit and profit for the period as  though the  acquisition had 

been conducted on January 1, 2016
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Note 26 Share based payment 
On December 14, 2016 the extraordinary general meeting authorized the board of directors to issue up to 485 950 121 

new shares (equaling 5% of the issued shares) under the incentive program for employees and board members. The 

Board has not resolved a general share option program, but has utilized the authorization to issue 150 000 000 share 

options to the Company’s CEO. The options vest in three tranches with 1/3 per tranche the first, second and third 

anniversary after grant at strike price of NOK 0.18, 0.20 and 0.22, respectively. All options expire March 1, 2021. 

 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using Black 

Scholes model. The cost is recognized through the profit or loss allocated over the vesting period, based on the best 

available estimate of the number of share options expected to be vested. At reporting date the company assesses the 

estimated number of options expected to be vested. The effect of the assessment of the original estimates, if any, is 

recognized through profit or loss as well as change in equity. Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net 

of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital 

with any excess being recorded as share premium.  

When the terms of an equity-settled share-based remuneration plan are modified, the minimum expense recognized is 

the expense had the terms not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is 

recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise 

beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.  

If the employment is terminated all non-exercised options will be forfeited, with a few exceptions. The Company’s 

Board may at any time resolve to terminate the options against payment to the option holder of a NOK amount 

equaling the value of vested and unvested options calculated as the difference between the market value of the option 

shares at such time less the exercised price for such option shares. 

 

The Company previously had a share option program for employees and consultants. In connection with entering into 

the Subscription and Guarantee Agreement all employees forfeited all options received, both vested and unvested. 

Currently only two former employees and consultants hold a total of 866 667 fully vested options, under the previous 

option program of the Company. 

 

 

  



SOLON EIENDOM ANNUAL REPORT, PAGE 44 
 

 

Overview granted stock options

Weighted average Weighted average

Number exercise price Number exercise price

of options (in NOK) of options (in NOK)

Outstanding on 1 January 8 473 333 2.19 5 810 000 2.20

Granted during the period 150 000 000 0.20 4 850 000 2.21

Cancelled options in period -3 940 000 2.09 -                      -                              

Forfeited during the period -2 218 751 2.30 1 520 000 2.40

Expired options in period -1 447 915 2.20 -                      -                              

Exercised during the period -                      -                              666 667         2.00

Outstanding at 31 December 150 866 667 0.21 8 473 333 2.19

Exercisable at 31 December 866 667 2.35 3 310 003 2.10

No of options Average price

Options fully vested 866 667 2.35

2018 Q1 50 000 000 0.18

2019 Q1 50 000 000 0.20

2020 Q1 50 000 000 0.22

Total number of outstanding options 150 866 667 0.21

Stock options by exercise price

Exercise price No of options

0,18 50 000 000

0,20 50 000 000

0,22 50 000 000

2,00 666 667

3,50 200 000

Total no of options 150 866 667

In NOK 1000 2016 2015

Total expensed cost for share based payment 765                        964                 

Total carrying amount for share options 6 353                     5 589              

Total intrinsic value of outstanding share options -                              -                  

Executive Management
Exercise price in 

NOK

Number of 

options 

31.12.2016

Andreas Martinussen, Chief Executive Officer 0.20 150 000 000 

20152016
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Note 27 Investments in Subsidiaries 

 
 
Consolidation of 50% owned entities 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statement require Solon Eiendom to evaluate if they have control of its investments. 

Solon Eiendom has 50% ownership in the entities, but controls the value-adding activities with development of the 

projects in these entities. Based on these facts, the investments shall be consolidated in accordance with IFRS 10 

Consolidated financial statements. 

 

Management has assessed that, in accordance with IFRS, those entities were subsidiaries and should be presented on a 

consolidated level using IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated financial  statements include the fol lowing companies

Year of Business

Voting / 

ownership

Subsidiaries acquistion Office percentage

Bionor Pharma AS 2010 Oslo 100 %

Bionor Immuno Inc 2007 New York 100 %

Bionor Pharma Aps 2015 Copenhagen 100 %

Nutri Pharma AS 2010 Oslo 100 %

Solon Eiendom AS 2006 Oslo 100 %

Asker Bol igutvikling AS 2013 Oslo 100 %

Askeveien Boligutvikling AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Bekkestua Bol igutvikling AS 2013 Oslo 100 %

Bygdøy Bol igutvikl ing AS 2015 Oslo 100 %

Bygdøy Boligutvikl ing DA 2016 Oslo 50 %

Ciderhus Eiendom AS 2011 Oslo 90 %

Berg Bol igutvikl ing AS 2015 Oslo 100 %

Freidigveien 3 AS 2015 Oslo 100 %

Krokstien 1 AS 2015 Oslo 100 %

Lettvintveien 50 AS 2014 Oslo 100 %

Ljabrubakken 2 AS 2012 Oslo 100 %

PHV 20 AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Skogholtveien 5 AS 2015 Oslo 100 %

Skogholtveien 30 AS 2008 Oslo 100 %

Tveterjordet AS 2014 Oslo 100 %

Drøbak Eiendomsutvikl ing AS 2010 Oslo 70 %

Fjordveien Eiendomsinvest AS 2014 Oslo 90 %

Fjoroveien Eiendom AS 2014 Oslo 100 %

Jegerveien Boligutvikl ing AS 2014 Oslo 100 %

Jessheim Eiendomsutvikling AS 2014 Oslo 100 %

Kolbotn Boligutvikling AS 2011 Oslo 100 %

Kolbotn Infrastruktur AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Kolbotn Sentrum Boligutvikling AS 2012 Oslo 100 %

Lier Boligutvikl ing AS 2015 Oslo 100 %

Maridalsveien Bol igutvikling AS 2012 Oslo 100 %

Nesøya Boligutvikling AS 2009 Oslo 70 %

Nittedal Bol igutvikling AS 2011 Oslo 100 %

Nordstrand Bolig- & Næringsutvikling AS 2011 Oslo 70 %

Nordstrand Næringsutvikling AS 2015 Oslo 100 %

Nydalen Boligutvikl ing AS 2012 Oslo 100 %

Nygårdsveien 9-11 AS 2013 Oslo 100 %

Ormerudveien Bol igutvikl ing AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Råholt Handel AS 2014 Oslo 100 %

Råholt Bol ig og Næringsutvikl ing AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Sandaker Boligutvikl ing AS 2013 Oslo 100 %

Sinsen Bol igutvikl ing AS 2013 Oslo 100 %

Ski Bol ig- & Næringsutvikl ing AS 2011 Oslo 70 %

Skøyen Boligutvikling AS 2015 Oslo 50 %

Skøyenåsveien 31 AS 2008 Oslo 50 %

Solskogen AS 2009 Oslo 100 %

Steinveien 12-14 AS 2011 Oslo 50 %

Storbukta Bol igutvikl ing AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Sønsterudveien 30 As 2006 Oslo 100 %

THV Boligutvikling AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Tåsen Boligutvikling AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Søndre Tåsen Gård AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Ullevål Bol igutvikl ing AS 2011 Oslo 70 %

Ullevål Utvikl ing AS 2015 Oslo 50 %

Ulsrud Boligutvikl ing AS 2016 Oslo 100 %

Voksenkollen Boligutvikl ing AS 2010 Oslo 70 %

Voksenkollen Felt A AS 2013 Oslo 100 %
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SOLON EIENDOM ASA 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes 2016 2015

Revenues from sale of goods and services 217             85               

Intercompany revenue 28 175       46 666       

Total revenue 4 28 392       46 751       

Employee benefit expenses 5, 19 (18 997)      (16 394)      

Depreciation 10 (286)            (305)            

Write-downs of intangible assets (324 533)    -                   

Other operating expenses 6, 19 (61 361)      (80 595)      

Total operating expenses (405 177)    (97 294)      

Operating loss (376 785)    (50 543)      

Finance income 7 6 392          7 154          

Finance costs 7 (813)            (1 211)        

Net financial items 5 579          5 943          

Loss before tax (371 206)    (44 600)      

Income tax expense 8 -                   -                   

Loss after tax (371 206)    (44 600)      

Net loss (371 206)    (44 600)      

Other comprehensive income -                   -                   

Total other comprehensive income (371 206)    (44 600)      

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 9 (371 206)    (44 600)      

Earnings (loss) per share (NOK) basic and diluted: (0,41)           (0,18)           

Average outstanding shares 900 011     248 841     
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes 2016 2015

ASSETS

Non-current assets  

Property, plant and equipment 10 1 497               1 828             

Investments in subsidiaries 16 1 121 069       338 419        

Other long term receivables 11 2 188               3 438             

Total non-current assets 1 124 754       343 685        

Current assets

Accounts receivables 11, 14, 15 -                        18                   

Intercompany receivables 11, 14, 15 175 611          107 802        

Other short term receivables 11, 14, 15 1 622               948                

Cash and cash equivalents 12, 15 55 610             8 268             

Total current assets 232 842          117 036        

Total Assets 1 357 596       460 721        

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

Equity  

Share capital 13 905 234          62 327           

Share premium 758 928          314 266        

Other paid-in equity 6 304               5 539             

Retained earnings and reserves (329 900)         41 429           

Total equity 1 340 566       423 560        

Liabil ities

Current l iabil ities

Accounts payables 14, 15 5 637               3 061             

Public duties payable 14, 15 515                  12 214           

Intercompany payables 14, 15 7 959               10 479           

Other current l iabil ities 14, 15 2 384               10 818           

Provisions 17 536                  590                

Total current liabilities 17 030             37 161           

Total liabilities 17 030             37 161           

Total Equity and Liabilities 1 357 596       460 721        
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 
 

 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES OF EQUITY 

 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes 2016 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax (371 206)     (44 600)      

Depreciation 10 286              305             

Write-downs of intangible assets 324 533      -                   

Share-based payments 5 765              964             

Accrued interest income from subsidiaries 123              4 425          

Change in accounts receivables 11 18                 1 202          

Change in accounts payables 2 576           878             

Change in other intercompany assets and liabil ities 85 548         (45 709)      

Change in other assets and liabil ities (19 610)       2 513          

Net cash from operating activities 23 033         (80 023)      

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments of property, plant and equipment 10 -                    -                   

Investments/Loans made to subsidiaries (156 000)     (3 408)        

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities (156 000)     (3 408)        

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of share capital 13 209 063      79               

Proceeds from exercise of options -                    1 333          

Transaction cost (28 753)       

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities 180 310      1 413          

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 8 267           90 286       

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 47 343         (82 019)      

Cash and cash equivalents at period end 55 610         8 267          

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes Share capital Share premium

Other paid-in 

capital

Retained 

earnings Total equity

Equity at 1 January 2016                 62 328               314 267                    5 539                 41 428 423 559

Change of par value                (50 350)                 50 350                             -                             -                             - 

Share-based payment 5                             -                             -                       765                             -                       765 

Total net loss for the year                             -                             -                             -             (371 206)             (371 206)

Total other comprehensive income for the year

Issue of share capital  13               893 257               422 942                             -                             -            1 258 693 

Transaction cost re issue of share capital 13                             -                (28 753)                             -                             -                 28 753 

Equity at 31 December 2016               905 235               758 807                    6 304             (329 778)            1 340 567 

Equity at 1 January 2015                 62 082               313 100                    4 408 86 028                465 616

Share-based payment 5                             -                             -                    1 131                             -                    1 131 

Total net loss for the year (44 600)                             (44 600)

Total other comprehensive income for the year                             -                             -                             - -                                                       - 

Issue of share capital  13                       246                    1 167                             -                             -                    1 413 

Transaction cost re issue of share capital 13                             -                             -                             -                             -                             - 

Equity at 31 December 2015                 62 328               314 267                    5 539                 41 428               423 559 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

Note 1 General information and basis for preparation 

Solon Eiendom ASA (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in Norway. Solon Eiendom ASA is listed on Oslo Stock 

Exchange and shares are traded under the ticker (OSE:SOLON). The address of the registered office is Olav Vs gate 5, 

0161 Oslo, Norway. The Solon Eiendom Group consists of Solon Eiendom ASA and the wholly owned subsidiaries Solon 

Eiendom AS with subsidiaries, Bionor Pharma ApS, BionorPharma AS, Bionor Immuno Inc and Nutri Pharma AS.  

The Company was incorporated 2 January 1993 and became a listed company under the name Nutri Pharma ASA in 

2000 and changed its name to Bionor Pharma ASA following the acquisition of the vaccine development company 

Bionor Immuno AS in 2010. In December 2016 the Company changed its name to Solon Eiendom ASA as a result of the 

reverse acquisition of the residential real estate development company Solon Eiendom AS.  

The financial statements for 2016 were approved by the Board of Directors April 24, 2017. The financial statements 

presented cover the results of the Company for the financial year 2016 with comparative information for the financial 

year 2015. The financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (NOK).  

 

Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

2.1 Basis for preparation 

The financial statements for 2016 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) and interpretations as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and approved by the EU.  

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for the revaluation to fair value of 

derivative financial instruments. The financial statements are presented in NOK and all values are rounded to the 

nearest thousand except where otherwise indicated. The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the 

previous financial year, except for the amendments to IFRS which have been implemented by the Company during the 

current financial year.  These have had no impact on the amounts reported in the financial statements.  

2.2 Functional and Presentation Currency and Foreign Currency Translation 

The financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (NOK) which is also the functional currency of the 

Company.  

In preparing the financial statements transactions in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency are 

recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Gains and losses on transactions and 

assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies than the functional currency are recognised in the income 

statement in the period in which they arise and any exchange gains or losses are recognized as financial items in the 

profit or loss.  

2.3 Use of Estimates 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies Management makes judgements, esti¬mates and assumptions 

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabili¬ties that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 

and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events, which are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised. 

The evaluations and estimates deemed to be of greatest significance for the Company are as follows: 
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Investment in Subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are significant items in the statement of financial position of the Company. Impairment to 

recoverable amount will be carried out if impairment indicators are present and recoverable amount is less than book 

value. Impairments are reversed when the cause and basis of the initial impairment is no longer present. The 

determination of whether investments in subsidiaries are impaired requires an estimation future cash flows expected 

to arise from the subsidiary. The Company’s investment in subsidiaries is the investment of Bionor Immuno AS. Bionor 

Immuno AS holds the patents pertaining to the Group’s product candidates and the fair value of the Company’s equity 

is closely linked to this value. The recoverable amount is determined based on the fair value of the equity for the 

Company. 

Deferred tax assets  

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that there is indication that taxable profit will 

be available against the losses and can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to determine the 

amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits 

together with future tax planning strategies. The Company has a history of tax losses and therefore no tax assets are 

recognized, however based on the development of the product candidate this assumption might change and a 

significant deferred tax asset could be recognized. See also note 8 Tax. 

2.4 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized when it is probable that transactions will generate future economic benefits that will accrue to 

the company and the size of the amount can be reliably estimated. Revenues from the sales of Nutri5® and NutriPro are 

recognized at the time of delivery of the product to the customer. Product sales through the subsidiary are made 

towards distributors who are independent businesses. Revenue is recognized on delivery of the products to the 

independent distributors.  

 

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 

All property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment. Cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 

carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 

benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Repairs 

and maintenance are expensed as incurred. If new parts are capitalised, replaced parts are derecognized and any 

remaining net book value is recorded in operating profit or loss as loss on disposal.  

Depreciation of assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost less residual value over the 

estimated useful life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

balance sheet date. The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there are indicators of impairment. If any 

such indicators exist, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. Assets are impaired if the 

carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use 

and fair value less costs to sell. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying 

amount. These are included in the profit or loss. 

 

2.6 Intangible assets  

Research and Development  

Research expenditure are recognized as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (related to 

design and testing of new or improved products) are recognized as intangible assets, provided the company can 

demonstrate a technical feasibility to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, how the 

asset can generate future economic benefits, that they have sufficient resources to complete the asset and that the 

development costs can be measured reliably. Development expenses previously recognized as an expense are not 

recognized as an asset in subsequent periods. Capitalized development costs are recognized as cost, less any 

accumulated amortization and impairment loss. Capitalized development costs that have finite useful life, is amortized 

on a straight-line basis over the expected useful economic life of the intangible asset from the commencement of the 

commercial production.  
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2.7 Government grants 

Government grants are measured at fair value on transaction date. The grant is not recognized until there is a 

reasonable assurance that all the attached conditions will be complied with. Government grants are recognized in profit 

or loss over the periods in which the entity recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended 

to compensate. The grant is recognized as a reduction of costs. 

 

2.8 Financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the following categories; loans and receivables and other financial 

liabilities. The recognition is based on the type of instrument and the purpose on initial recognition. Financial assets and 

financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 

instrument (defined as expiry date).  

 

Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market, these instruments are carried at fair value through profit or loss. Loans and receivables are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method, discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is considered 

to be immaterial. 

 

Other liabilities  

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received net of transaction costs. 

Subsequent measurement is amortized cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a 

method for calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and allocating the interest expense over the contractual 

period. The effective interest rate it the rate that accurately discounts the estimated future cash flows over the 

expected life of the financial liability or over a shorter period when relevant. The estimated market rate on loans 

between companies within the Company as well as between subsidiaries and external lenders, that has been used to 

calculate net present value of future cash flow is a non-observable factor since there are few comparable transactions 

of debt instruments for companies in a similar situation.  

 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value, usually nominal amount. A provision for impairment of trade 

receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due 

according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The 

amount of the provision is recognized in the income statement. 

 

2.9 Leasing 

Classification of agreements is based on an assessment of if substantially all risks and rewards in regards of ownership 

of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee.  

 

Finance leases  

The lease will be capitalised if substantially all risks and rewards of ownership has been transferred. Capitalised leases 

are classified as borrowings and are depreciated over their useful lives.  

 

Operating leases  

Operating leases are leases for which most of the risk and rewards rests with the other contracting party. The lease 

payments are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis during the contract period. 

 

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at hand, and deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of 3 months or less. Overdraft facilities are included in cash and cash equivalents.  
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2.11 Borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at cost, being fair value of the consideration received net of 

transaction/issue costs associated with the borrowing. After initial recognition interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between the 

consideration received net of transaction/issue costs associated with the borrowing and the redemption value, is 

recognized in the income statement over the term of the loan. Amortized cost is measured by considering all issue 

costs, and any discount or premium at the maturity date. 

 

2.12 Taxes 

Current income tax  

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that 

are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Tax expense consists of tax payable and change in 

deferred tax. 

 

Deferred income tax  

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  

 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except  

• When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither profit or loss 

• In respect to taxable temporary differences from investments in foreign subsidiaries and associates when the timing 

of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable the temporary differences will not 

reverse foreseeable future. .  

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits 

and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.  

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax 

asset to be utilised. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are 

recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 

recovered.  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 

asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted at the reporting date.  

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 

current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity 

and the same taxation authority. 

2.13 Employee benefits and share-based payment 

Defined Contribution Plan 

The Company’s pension plan is a defined contribution plan. The Company pays contributions privately administered 

pension insurance plans on a mandatory basis. The Company has no further payment obligations once the contributions 

have been paid. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid 

contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payment is 

available.  
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Share-based payments  

The parent company operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. The cost of equity-

settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using Black Scholes model. The 

cost is recognized through the profit or loss allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of 

the number of share options expected to be vested. At balance sheet date the company assesses the estimated number 

of options expected to be vested. The effect of the assessment of the original estimates, if any, is recognized through 

profit or loss as well as change in equity. Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly 

attributable transaction costs up to the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess 

being recorded as share premium.  

 

When the terms of an equity-settled share-based remuneration plans are modified, the minimum expense recognized is 

the expense had the terms not been modified if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is 

recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is 

otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.  

 

2.14 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it 

is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been 

reliably estimated. Long term provisions are measured at the net present value of management’s best estimate of the 

expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. 

 

2.16 Investments in subsidiaries  

Investment in subsidiaries are recognized at cost in Bionor Pharma ASAs separate financial statement. Impairment to 

recoverable amount will be carried out if impairment indicators are present and recoverable amount is less than book 

value. Impairments are reversed when the cause and basis of the initial impairment is no longer present. 

 

2.17 Events after Reporting Date 

New information on the Company’s financial position on the end of the reporting period which becomes known after 

the reporting period is recorded in the annual accounts. Events after the reporting period that do not affect the 

Company’s financial position on the end of the reporting period but which will affect the Company’s financial position in 

the future are disclosed if significant. 

 

2.18 Cash flow statement 

The cash flow statement is prepared by using the indirect method and shows cash flow for respectively operational-, 

investing- and financing activities and explains the change in cash and cash equivalents during the period. 

 

Note 3 Adoptation of new and revised reporting standards and 

interpretations 

See note 3 in Solon Eiendom Group accounts 
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Note 4 Revenues  

 

 

Note 5 Employee benefit expenses and share options 

 

Number of employees at year end is 6 (7) with an average number of man-years through 2016 of 6 (7). The Company 

has a pension scheme for its employees in Norway. The pension plan  is fully financed by premium payments. 

As regards the Norwegian employees, the defined pension contribution scheme fulfills the requirements of the 

Norwegian occupational pension legislation (OTP). 

 

Stock Options 

Solon Eiendom ASA has issued stock options. For further details see note 6 in Solon Eiendom Group accounts. 

 

Note 6 Other Operating Expenses by Nature 

 

Solon Eiendom ASA leases offices in Oslo and laboratories in Skien. The contract for the previous head quarter in the 

city center of Oslo expires in Q3 2022 and the annual lease obligation is NOK 1.5 million. From January 2017 the 

Company has subleased  the previous head quarter for the remaining contract period in a back-to-back arrangement. 

The lease agreement for the laboratories at Klosterøya in Skien has been entered into in Q3 2016 and the related 

annual lease obligation is  NOK 0.2 million. From January 2017 the contract was transported to the subsidiary Bionor 

Pharma AS. 

The management of the Group is located at the offices leased by the subsidiary Solon Eiendom AS. 

The Company's lease agreements are subject to annual price adjustments. The only active lease agreement is related to 

a multifunction printer with expires end of January 2018. 

Intercompany expenses are related to operating cost related to the management services provided by the employees in 

the subsidiaries Bionor Pharma ApS, Denmark and Bionor Immuno Inc, USA 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Other 217                        85                          

Intercompany revenue 28 175                  46 666                  

Total operating revenue 28 392                  46 751                  

Employee benefit expenses

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Wages and salaries 16 650                  13 705

Payroll  tax 1 112                    1 040

Share-based payment  765                        1 131

Pension costs defined contribution plan 296                        332

Other 175                        187

Total 18 997                  16 394

Other Operating Expenses

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

R&D Related Expenses 18 248                  35 135                  

Other Administrative Expenses 23 554                  43 930                  

Inter Company Expenses 19 559                  1 530                    

Total Other Operating Expenses 61 361                  80 595                  
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Note 7 Finance income and expense 

 

Note 8 Tax 

 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Finance income

Interest income from subsidiaries 5 803                    5 887                    

Other interest income 241                        649                        

Foreign exchange gain 348                        619                        

Total finance income 6 392                    7 155                    

Finance expense

Interest cost from subsidaries (40)                                   -  

Foreign exchange loss (591)                      (1 070)                   

Other interest expense (182)                      (141)                      

Total finance expense (813)                      (1 211)                   

Net financial items 5 579                    5 943                    

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Tax expense/(income)

Profit/(loss) before tax (371 206)                       (44 600)                 

Calculated tax expense/(income) (25%) (92 801)                         (12 042)                 

Reconciliation from nominal to effective tax rate

Permanent differences 76 057                          (263)                      

Permanent differences transaction costs charged 

to equity -                                      -                             

Changes in deferred tax assets not recognized 13 494                          7 144                    

Change in tax rate Norway from 25% to 24% 3 250                             5 161                    

Calculated tax expense -                                      -                             

Effective tax rate 0 % 0 %

Specification of deferred tax – tax effect of temporary differences

Deferred tax l iabil ity

Liabil ities -                                      -                             

Gain and loss account 7 209                             9 011                    

Total liabilities of deferred tax 7 209                             9 011

Deferred tax receivables

Tax effect of losses carried forward 88 430                          73 503                  

Intangible assets -                                      -                             

Other year end provisions -                                      -                             

Fixed assets 38                                  23                          

Total receivables of deferred tax 88 468                          73 525

Net asset of deferred tax 78 008                          64 514                  

Not recognized deferred tax asset 78 008                          64 514                  

Recognized deferred tax asset -                                      -                             
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Solon Eiendom has tax losses carried forward in Norway, which can be offset by future tax profit in the Company. The 

right to carry forward the loss is unlimited. The deferred tax asset is not recognized as an asset in the financial statements 

since there can be uncertainty whether the deferred tax asset can be utilized in the future. The Norwegian tax rate 

changes from 25 % to 24 % with effect from 1 January 2017, and impacts the Company's deferred tax asset. The change 

does not impact the Company's future tax liabilities. 

Based on a decision made by the Tax authorities in 2009 the Company has to pay 30% penalty of the tax on the first NOK 

89.7 million in taxable income once the tax loss carried forward has been fully utilized . The penalty tax is estimated to 

be NOK 6.5 million. Due to uncertainty of the timing of a potential tax position, this penalty is not recognized. 

 

 

 

Note 9 Earnings per share 

 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity by 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Shares issued during the period are 

multiplied by a time-weighed factor. Diluted earnings per share is calculated as profit or loss attributable to ordinary 

equity holders of the parent entity divided by weighted average number of shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects 

of all dilutive potential options. Profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity and weighted 

average number of shares outstanding, is adjusted for the dilutive effects of all potential options. All shares that can be 

vested as options and are “in the money” are included in the calculations. Potential share options are expected to be 

converted at the time of transfer Adjustment of number of own shares is taken into consideration in the calculations 

below. The Company had 9 052 344 387(including 1 625 treasury shares) at the end of the year and 249 309 950 (including 

1 625 treasury shares) at the beginning of the year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated as profit or loss attributable 

to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity divided by weighted average number of shares outstanding, adjusted for 

the effects of all dilutive potential options. No diluting effects have been accounted for. Potential ordinary shares shall 

be treated as dilutive when, and only when, their conversion to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share or 

increase loss per share from continuing operations. Potential ordinary shares are not treated as dilutive since they have 

a positive impact on loss per share.  

Adjustment of number of own shares is taken into consideration in the calculations below.  

Geographical distribution of deferred tax carried forward December  31, 2016

Amounts in NOK thousand Norway Total

Total loss carried forward 353 721 353 721

Of which deferred tax asset has not been recognized 353 721 353 721

Tax losses on which deferred tax asset has been recognized -                             -                             

Geographical distribution of deferred tax carried forward at December 31, 2015

Amounts in NOK thousand Norway Total

Total loss carried forward 294 011 294 011

Of which deferred tax asset has not been recognized 294 011 294 011

Tax losses on which deferred tax asset has been recognized -                             -                             

2016 2015

Loss from continued operations (NOK thousand) (371 206)              (44 600)                 

Average number of outstanding shares (excluding treasury shares) 900 010 519        248 841 047        

Ordinary result per share - basic/diluted – for continued operations (0,41)                     (0,18)                     
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Note 10 Property plant and equipment 

 

 

Note 11 Trade and other receivables 

 

 

Note 12 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Amounts in NOK thousand July-05 July-05

Accounts receivables                    - 18                          

Intercompany receivables 175 611                        107 802                

VAT 1 401                             6                            

Prepaid costs 221                                942                        

Total                          177 232                 108 768 

Amounts in NOK thousand July-05 July-05

Other long-term receivables 2 188                             3 438                    

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Cash and bank balances                    55 610                      8 268 

Total cash and cash equivalents                    55 610                      8 268 

Restricted funds for employees witholding tax                         281                         568 



SOLON EIENDOM ANNUAL REPORT, PAGE 58 
 

The Company's cash and cash equivalents consist exclusively of bank deposits.  

Note 13 Share capital and shareholder information 

The share capital in the Company as of December 31, 2016 consists of the following share classes 

 

 

The Company's Extraordinary General Assembly (EGM) December 2016 granted the Board the mandate to issue up to 

667 million shares in a subsequent offering. The EGM also gave the Board the mandate to issue up to 486 million shares 

in connection with the Group's option program.  The mandate is valid until the next AGM, but no later than June 30, 2017. 

The EGM also gave the Board the mandate to purchase up to 905 million treasury shares. This mandate is valid until June 

30, 2017. 

 

Number of shares

Nominal amount 

in NOK

Book value in 

NOK 

Ordinary shares 9 052 344 387     0,1 905 234 439        

Changes in share capital 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Share capital at period start 62 328                  62 082                   

Share capital decrease with change in par value (50 350)                 -                             

Share capital increase private placement 220 845                79                          

Share capital increase aquisition 666 667                -                             

Share capital increase exercise of warrants 1                            -                             

Share capital increase exercise of options -                             167                        

Share capital increase subsequent offering 5 745                    -                             

Share Capital at period end 905 235                62 328                  

Amounts of shares thousands 2016 2015

Outstanding  number of shares at period start 249 310                248 326                

Share capital increase private placement 2 113 380            317                        

Share capital increase aquisition 6 666 667            -                             

Share capital increase exercise of warrants 9                            -                             

Share capital increase exercise of options -                             667                        

Share capital increase subsequent offering 22 979                  -                             

Outstanding  number of shares at period end 9 052 344            249 310                

The par value per share was changed on September 9, 2016 to NOK 0.10 from NOK 0.25. Change in share 

capital in 2016 reflects the equity issue through a private placement  February 11, 2016 followed by a 

subsequent repair offering March 3, 2016, a private placement on September 9,  2016, a private placement 

on November 21, 2016, exercise of warrants in November 2016, a reverse acquisition and a private 

placement on December 14, 2016.  
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Ownership structure

Shareholder Ordinary Shares Ownership

* HORTULAN AS 2 333 333 332 25,8 %

* SOLON AS 1 629 666 667 18,0 %

ALDEN AS 1 011 515 271 11,2 %

* DUKAT AS 570 333 334 6,3 %

FERNCLIFF LISTED DAI 183 333 333 2,0 %

DATUM AS 183 333 333 2,0 %

NORRON SICAV - TARGE 149 999 979 1,7 %

* JOHN GALT INVEST AS 133 333 333 1,5 %

* CIPRIANO AS 116 666 667 1,3 %

HØIE LARS HENRIK 106 708 966 1,2 %

VERDIPAPIRFONDET DNB 102 175 085 1,1 %

MORGAN STANLEY & CO. 100 286 071 1,1 %

THABO ENERGY AS 100 000 000 1,1 %

UBS AG 94 844 000 1,0 %

ARCTIC SECURITIES AS 88 145 228 1,0 %

SWEDBANK GENERATOR 87 656 000 1,0 %

PERESTROIKA AS 75 000 000 0,8 %

NORDA ASA 71 875 369 0,8 %

EUROCLEAR BANK N.V. 60 533 763 0,7 %

NORDNET LIVSFORSIKRI 59 035 644 0,7 %

Top 20 shareholders 7 257 775 375 80,2 %

Total other shareholder 1 794 569 012 19,8 %

Total number of shares 9 052 344 387 100 %

* Shares owned by Members of the Board and Executice Management

Shareholder Position Ordinary Shares

Hortulan AS Simen Thorsen Chairman 2 333 333 332

Cipriano AS Einar J. Greve Deputy Chairman 116 666 667

Solon AS and Dukat AS Tore Aksel Voldberg Board member 2 200 000 001

Adekvat Invest AS Bente Bøhler Board member 6 045 333

Katarina Finneng Board member -

John Galt Invest AS Andreas Martinussen CEO 133 333 333

Total shares hold 4 789 378 666
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Note 14 Financial instruments 

Categories of financial assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position. The Company has no non-current 

financial instruments. 

 

There is no arrangement fee or other upfront fees connected to intercompany borrowing, so even though borrowings 

are recorded at amortized cost, carrying value will be approximately equal to the fair value. 

 

Note 15 Financial risk management 

See note 20 in Solon Eiendom Group accounts for details regarding financial risk management. 

 

Note 16 Subsidiaries 

 

 

The investment in Bionor Pharma AS has been written down with NOK 324,5 million based on the valuation of the 

assets at time of reverse acquisition adjusted for costs until year end. See also note 25 in Group accounts. 

 

 

 

 

Amounts in NOK thousand

 Loans and 

Receivables 

 Financial 

liabilities and 

assets at 

amortized cost 

 Total Carrying 

Value 
 Total Fair Value 

Assets and liabilities 2016

Trade and other receivables 3 810                     -                         3 810                     3 810                     

Intercompany receivables 175 611                175 611                175 611                175 611                

Total Assets as per December 31, 2016 179 421                175 611                179 421                179 421                

Trade and other payables 9 071                     -                         9 071                     9 071                     

Intercompany payables -                         7 959                     7 959                     7 959                     

Total Liabil ities as per December 31, 2016 9 071                     7 959                     17 030                   17 030                   

Assets and liabilities 2015

Trade and other receivables 4 404                     -                         4 404                     4 404                     

Intercompany receivables 107 802                107 802                107 802                107 802                

Total assets as per December 31, 2015 112 206                107 802                112 206                112 206                

Trade and other payables 26 683                   -                         26 683                   26 683                   

Intercompany payables -                         10 479                   10 479                   10 479                   

Total Liabil ities as per December 31, 2015 26 683                   10 479                   37 161                   37 161                   

Company
Location and country 

of incorporation

Consolidated 

(Yes/No)

Voting 

share/Ownership 

share

Equity as per 31. 

Dec 2016 in NOK 

million

Net Profit/loss 

for 2016 in NOK 

million

Solon Eiendom AS Oslo, Norway Yes 100 % 135,2                    76,4                       

Bionor Pharma AS Oslo, Norway Yes 100 % (0,5)                        (36,1)                     

Nutri Pharma AS Oslo, Norway Yes 100 % 0,02                       (0,00)                     

Bionor Pharma ApS Copenhagen, Norway Yes 100 % 5,6                         1,5                         

Bionor Immuno Inc New York, USA Yes 100 % (0,5)                        0,5                         
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Note 17 Provisions 

 

The provisions for employee benefits represents accrued employee bonus, the bonus will be determined by Board of 

Directors after reporting period end.  

 

Note 18 Related party transactions 

 

-Bionor Laboratories AS is owned 100% by 2 members of previous management in the 

Company; Ellisiv Rogan and Gunnar Flåten. Gunnar Flåten is still employed by the Company. 

Purchase of services related to laboratory services and materials. 

-BA Ruskin Law LLC is owned 100% by former Senior Vice President, General Counsel and 

Chief Patent officer Barbara Ruskin. Purchase of services related to monthly fees and 

reimbursed costs from Bionor Immuno Inc. 

-Proventa is 100% owned by consultant Jens Krøis (previous CFO). Purchase is in respect of 

purchase of service related to monthly fee from September 2016 and bonus as a consultant 

for the year 2015. Sale is in respect of sale of inventory. 

-Hjelmaas AS is 100% owned by employee Unni Hjelmaas (previous acting CEO). Purchase is 

in respect of purchase of services related to monthly fees. 

-Ferncliff TIH II AS is 100% owned by previous Board member Øystein Stray Spetalen. Purchase is in 

respect of fee as strategic advisor for Bionor Pharma ASA 

-Cipriano AS is 100% owned by Vice Chairman Einar J. Greve. Purchase is in respect of fee as 

strategic advisor for Bionor Pharma ASA 

-In connection with the Acquisition, the Private Placement and the Subsequent Offering the 

Company has purchased project management fees from Cipriano AS (wholly owned by Vice 

Employee bonus Dispute Total

Amounts in NOK thousand

Balance at  January 1, 2015                              1 509                               -                      1 509 

Additional provisions and                                (999)                            80                        (919)

Balance at December 31,                                  510                            80                         590 

Balance at  January 1, 2016                                  510                            80                         590 

Additional provisions and                                    26                          (80)                          (54)

Balance at December 31,                                  536                               -                         536 

Current provisions                                  536                               -                         536 

Balance at December 31,                                  536                               -                         536 

2016

Amounts in NOK thousand

Sale

to related

parties

Purchase

from related

parties

Receivables

from related

parties

Liabilities

to related

parties

Interest

from related

parties

BA Ruskin Law               -                        4 848                     -                              37                             -   

Bionor Pharma AS                            28 175                         115                    19 530                         143                      5 752 

Bionor Pharma ApS                                     -                      14 301                            30                      5 717                             -   

Bionor Immuno Inc                                     -                        3 356                             -                        1 574                             -   

Solon Eiendom AS                                     -                               -                   156 051                         525                            51 

Bionor Laboratories AS                                     -                           164                             -                              26                             -   

Proventa                                    36                      1 078                             -                               -                               -   

Hjelmaas AS                                     -                        2 040                             -                               -                               -   

Cipriano A                                     -                        5 200                             -                               -                               -   

Ferncliff TIH II AS                                     -                        2 000                             -                               -                               -   

Total                            28 211                    33 101                 175 611                      8 021                      5 803 
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Chairman Einar J. Greve) for a total of NOK 3 million, ex. VAT 

-The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement with chairman Simen Thorsen, as 

further described in Section 11.7 "Board remuneration". The Company has not made any 

payments under such consultancy agreement up to year end. 

 

 

Barbara Ruskin has invoiced her legal services through her wholly owned company, BA Ruskin Law LLC. 

Bionor Laboratories AS is owned 100% by two members of previous management in Bionor Pharma, Gunnar Flåten and 

Ellisiv Rogan. Gunnar is still employed by the Company and is a key employee.  Purchase of services relates to laboratory 

services and material.  

In addition, the Company transferred certain assets, which were without value to the Company 

connected to its former nutraceuticals business to former Bionor Pharma Chairman Dr. Lars H. 

Høie shortly after he resigned as Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors in May 2015. 

 

See also note 22 in Group for related party transaction after the reverse acquisition. 

 

 

Note 19 Remuneration of Executive Management and Board of Directors and 

Auditor

 

* CEO David H. Solomon retired end of April 2016. The wages and salaries include severance payment of DKK 4 million 

and 6 month salary of DKK 2 million. 

** At end of April 2016 the new CEO Unni Hjelmaas entered into a management for hire consultancy agreement through 

her wholly owned company Hjelmaas AS. 

*** Jens Krøis was employed in the subsidiary Bionor Pharma ApS until August 31, 2016. From September 1, 2016 he 

entered into a management for hire consultancy agreement through his wholly owned company Proventa. 

 

2015

Amounts in NOK thousand

Sale

to related

parties

Purchase

from related

parties

Receivables

from related

parties

Liabilities

to related

parties

Interest

from related

parties

BA Ruskin Law                                     -                        3 710                             -                               -                               -   

Bionor Immuno AS                            46 666                         220                 107 752                      5 746                      5 887 

Bionor Pharma ApS                                     -                      12 271                            50                      4 342                             -   

Bionor Immuno Inc                                     -                        1 081                             -                           391                             -   

Total                            46 666                    17 282                 107 802                    10 479                      5 887 

Remuneration to Senior Management:

Amounts in NOK thousand

Wages and 

salaries Bonus

Sharebased 

payment Pension costs Other Total 2016

David H. Solomon, CEO (to 28.04.2016) 9 135            -                             -                             -                             2                            9 137                    

Unni Hjelmaas, CEO (from 28.04.2016 consultant) 2 040            -                             -                             -                             -                             2 040                    

Jens Krøis, CFO 2 414            -                             -                             60                          55                          2 529                    

Total remuneration 2016 13 588          -                             -                             60                          57                          13 705                  

Amounts in NOK thousand

Wages and 

salaries Bonus

Sharebased 

payment Pension costs Other Total 2015

David H. Solomon, CEO (from 19.01.2015) 4 587            -                             1 223                    -                             1                            5 812                    

Anker Lundemose, CEO (to Jan 2015) 388               53                          4                            -                             9                            453                        

Synne H. Røine, CFO (to 31.03.2015) 505               156                        (666)                      21                          2                            17                          

Jens Krøis, CFO ( from 01.05.15) 1 543            202                        -                             -                             77                          1 822                    

Søren Kel ler, (from 01.03.15) 1 626            245                        96                          143                        -                             2 110                    

Kamil la Rolsted,  (from 01.04.15) 1 426            250                        96                          126                        -                             1 897                    

Barbara Ruskin, (from 01.04.15) 2 830            535                        96                          283                        -                             3 744                    

Total remuneration 2015 12 905          1 441                    849                        572                        88                          15 856                  

*

**

***
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Guidelines for 2016 

See note 6 in Solon Eiendom Group accounts for guidelines. 

 

These guidelines were approved at the AGM in May 2016 in the name of Bionor Pharma ASA and Bionor Pharma Group 

and was valid until the reverse acquisition of Solon Eiendom AS. 

 

Board of Directors’ Statement on determination of salary and other remuneration to Executive Management for the 

Financial Year 2016 and until the AGM in 2017. 

 

The Board of Directors has established a Statement on determination of salary and other remuneration to Executive 

Management (“Statement”). The Statement was approved by the Extraordinary General Meeting on 6 June 2016 in 

accordance with section 6-16a of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The guidelines on share-based incentive 

schemes are binding for the Board. The remaining guidelines are non-binding, but the Board will have to state its reasons 

for deviating in the Board minutes should it choose to deviate from the non-binding guidelines. 

 

The Board of Directors will in the evaluation of remuneration of Executive Management aim to secure a total 

compensation scheme that will attract and retain a highly qualified Executive Management who will fulfill the strategic 

objectives of Bionor. The Board will approve the Chief Executive Officer’s salary and other remuneration. The Chief 

Executive Officer will determine salary and other remuneration for the other Executive Management members within 

the limits established by these guidelines and possible further detailed guidelines specified by the Board. Remuneration 

for Executive Management during the period from the AGM in 2016 and until the AGM in 2017 will be based on the 

following main principles: 

 

Base salary 

The determination of base salary of the Executive Management is based on position, level of responsibility, expertise and 

seniority. The level of pay will be competitive. The base salary is reviewed annually based on individual performance, 

employee potential and competitiveness of employee’s compensation scheme. 

 

Annual bonus 

Executive Management’s bonuses are performance dependent and based on individual operational objectives, which 

feed into Bionor’s overall strategic goals. The annual bonus will be limited to a maximum of 25% of base salary for the 

Executive Management. Discretionary bonus for extraordinary performances may be awarded. Whether or not to award 

the Chief Executive Officer with a bonus and the level of such bonus is at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

 

Long term and other incentive schemes 

Bionor has a share option program to ensure the focus and align the company’s long term performance with shareholder 

values and interest. The program also serves to retain and attract key management. Certain members of key management 

have been granted share options upon joining the company. Additional grants have been made to key personnel on a 

discretionary basis taking into account overall performance, competitiveness of terms, work responsibility, importance 

of retention, organization level, and position. Share options may also be granted to selected consultants and board 

members to attract and retain the individuals with the skill, international experience, and industry competence the 

company requires. Up until end 2014 share options vested over a three-year period and are usually vested according to 

the following plan; 33 % of the options vest on the first anniversary of the grant date; 33 % at year two and the remaining 

33 % of the options vest at year three. Options expire seven years after the grant date. Certain older options do not follow 

the same principles. From 2015 options vest with ¼ on the first annual anniversary of grant and thereafter by 1/48 each 

month for the next 36 months and the former Chief Executive Officer was granted options on these terms at the time of 

his employment in January 2015. As part of the incentive program leading employees were granted 2,350,000 options in 

August 2015. All option contracts include regulation that in the case of termination of employment, the employee will 

not vest further share options beyond notice of termination (with certain provisions of accelerated partial vesting). The 

exercise price for any new options granted is set at the market price of the shares at the time of grant of the options. 

Individual option grants are not capped by a maximum size of grant. The Board of Bionor seeks a yearly authorization 

from shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to issue a maximum number of share options in total for all grants. The 

long-term cap on the incentive program shall not exceed 5% of outstanding shares and options (fully diluted). 
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If the employment is terminated by the company all vested but not exercised options will lapse unless exercised during 

the next three quarterly exercise periods following notice of termination, with a few exceptions. The company’s Board 

may at any time resolve to terminate the options against payment to the option holder of a NOK amount equaling the 

value of vested and unvested options calculated as the difference between the market value of the option shares at such 

time less the exercise price for such option shares. 

 

The options fair value is recognized using the Black & Scholes model. Expected risk free interest rate is equivalent to the 

government bond interest rate for the length of the options’ vesting period, expected dividend is zero. The volatility is 

determined based on the historical volatility with a time equivalent to the options vesting period. 

 

Pension schemes 

All employees in Bionor Pharma Group, with exception of the CEO, have a defined contribution pension scheme. The 

pension schemes are in accordance with applicable national legislation. 

 

Benefits in kind 

Bionor will not provide any benefits in kind beyond the following: car allowance, telephone and mobile phone use, 

broadband, daily newspapers, life insurance and other employee insurance schemes. 

 

Period of notice and severance payments 

The acting Chief Executive Officer, Unni Hjelmaas is engaged on a consultancy basis until 31 December 2016. Unless the 

parties agree to extend the contract it will terminate at such time without notice. Notice of termination of other members 

of the Executive Management range from 6-12 months’ notice. One member of the Executive Management has a 

severance clause in the employment contracts. 

 

Other variable elements in remuneration 

Other than the above, the Group will not offer the Management variable elements as part of their remuneration packages 

or any special payments. 

 

The Group’s remuneration policy and practice for the financial year 2017 and until the AGM in 2018 

The remuneration for the Executive Management complies with the remuneration guidelines approved by the AGM on 

May 23, 2017. 

 

 
 

Amounts in NOK thousand

Period
Board 

Remuneration
Committee Fees

Total 

Remuneration 

2016

Lars H. Høie, Director March - Sept 105 459                21 957                  127 416                

Steen Krøyer, Deputy Director March - June 81 111                  -                             81 111                  

Benedicte Fossum, Director Jan - April 100 000                25 000                  125 000                

Jerome Zeldis, Director Jan - April 100 000                -                             100 000                

Øystein Soug, Deputy Chairman Jan- March 94 565                  37 826                  132 391                

Marianne Kock, Director Jan - April 100 000                -                             100 000                

Russell  G. Greig, Chairman Jan - March 151 304                -                             151 304                

Bernd Seizinger, Director Jan - March 75 652                  (6 087)                   69 565                  

Thomas Hofstaetter, Director Jan - May 100 000                25 000                  125 000                

Kirsten Drejer, Director Jan - May 100 000                -                             100 000                

Per S. Thoresen, Chairman / Director March  - Sept 269 807                -                             269 807                

Ingrid Leisner, Director / Deputy Chairman March - June 184 626                6 087                    190 713                

Helene Jebsen Anker, Director June - Sept 56 111                  -                             56 111                  

Einar J. Greve, Chairman Sept - Dec 117 778                -                             117 778                

Øystein  Stray Spetalen, Director Sept - Dec 58 889                  -                             58 889                  

Kristin  Hellebust, Director Sept - Dec 58 889                  -                             58 889                  

Total remuneration 2016 1 754 191            109 783                1 863 974            
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Remuneration to Senior Management and Board of Directors is based on accrued amounts in the financial statements. 

The fee to the Board is set by the Group’s Annual General Assembly and paid quarterly during the period of appointment. 

The accrued remuneration is based on Management’s best estimate. 

 

See note 6 in Solon Eiendom Group accounts for details regarding remuneration to Board of Directors from December 

14, 2017. 

 

 

 
 

All fees above are excluding VAT. 

 

 

 

Declaration by the board of directors and CEO 
 

We hereby confirm that the annual accounts for the group and the parent company for 2016 to the best of our 

knowledge have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the 

assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group and the parent company taken as a whole. 

 

The directors’ report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and position of the 

group and the parent company, as well as a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group.  

 

 

 
 

 

 

Amounts in NOK thousand 2016 2015

Audit fee 330                                259                        

Tax advisory services 486                                413                        

Other audit related services 132                                636                        

Other services non-audit related 1 482                             -                             

Total 2 431                             1 308                    
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Independent auditor’s report  
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Definitions and abbreviations 

 
Definitions 

Adjusted EBITDA – EBITDA adjusted for interest expense capitalized in connection with the construction of residential 

properties 

 

Units – Units refers to the number of apartments or houses 

 

 

Abbreviations 

EBITDA – Earnings before Interest Taxes and Amortization 

 

NIBD – Net Interest Bearing Debt 

 

 

Amounts in NOK thousand unless otherwise stated 2016 2015

Equity ratio

Total equity 511 078 186 787

Total equity and l iabil ities 1 833 367 1 507 329

Equity ratio 28 % 12 %

EBITDA segment reporting

Revenue 787 167 804 847

Operating profit/(loss) 127 800 115 329

Depreciation and amortisation expense 1 808 1 680

EBITDA 129 609 117 010

EBITDA margin 16,47 % 14,54 %

EBITDA

Revenue 691 497 727 200

Operating profit/(loss) 73 464 127 128

Depreciation and amortisation expense 629 430

EBITDA 74 093       127 558     

Net interest bearing debt

Interest bearing debt 1 034 019 1 082 714 

Cash 238 642     122 128     

Net interest bearing debt 795 377     960 586     
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For further information, please contact: 

Andreas Martinussen, CEO Solon Eiendom ASA  

Telephone: +47 400 00 405, e-mail: am@soloneiendom.no  

Scott Danielsen, CFO Solon Eiendom ASA 

Telephone: +47 952 55 620, e-mail: sd@soloneiendom.no  

 

About Solon Eiendom  

Solon Eiendom is a Norwegian residential real estate development company focusing on the Oslo and Akershus region. 

Solon Eiendom was established in 2006 by founder Simen Thorsen and investor Tore Aksel Voldberg. The company has 

since its incorporation delivered 570 units with a corresponding sales value of close to NOK ~3 billion and sold more 

than 800 units with a total sales price of more than NOK ~4 billion. 

 

www.soloneiendom.no/investor-relations/  


